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Scope and boundary

The boundary of our report is the financial reporting entity of Middle

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

East Diamond Resources Limited (previously Sable Metals and

According to the JSE Listings Requirements, forward-looking

Minerals Limited) (“MEDR”) and its subsidiaries. The report framework

statements have to be reviewed by the group’s auditors. No forward

is in line with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”),

looking forecasts have intentionally been included in this report.

the King Report on Corporate Governance in South Africa (“King III”)

Certain statements in this report may, however, be perceived as

and the Companies Act 2008 (Act 71 of 2008), as amended and the

“forward-looking”. Words such as “forecasts”, “believes”, “expects”,

JSE Listings Requirements. The audited financial statements are

“intends”, “plans”, “will”, “may”, “should”, “could”, “anticipates”,

prepared in accordance with IFRS.

“estimates”, “seeks”, “continues” or similar expressions or the
negative thereof, are typically indicative of forward-looking

This integrated annual report covers the financial year of 1 March

statements. These statements should not be seen as guarantees of

2015 to 29 February 2016, and can be read as a follow-on of the

MEDR’s future operating, financial or other results and involves

integrated annual report we published in May 2015, covering

certain risks, uncertainties and assumptions.

MEDR’s previous financial year. There have been significant changes
in the size, structure and ownership of the group during the current
reporting period. This included the name change from Sable Metals

BOARD APPROVAL

and Minerals Limited to Middle East Diamond Resources Limited

The Middle East Diamond Resources Limited board of directors

and detail of the structure changes can be seen on pages 4 and 5.

acknowledges its responsibility to ensure the integrity of the
integrated annual report for the 2016 financial year, and in the

Our report aims to provide our stakeholders with balanced, accurate

board’s opinion, this report addresses the group’s material issues

and understandable information about our financial, economic,

and presents fairly its integrated performance and its impacts.

social and environmental performance during the reporting period on
matters material to our strategy and our ability to create and sustain
value in the short, medium and long term.

ASSURANCES
The group did not receive external assurance for this report, other

James Allan

than from the external auditors in terms of the annual financial
statements.

20 September 2016
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This is
MEDR

Highlights

Loan agreement signed with Lemur

The sale by Sable Platinum Mining

The three subsidiaries are Great 1 Line

Resources Limited to provide working

Limited of three subsidiaries to Lemur

Investments Proprietary Limited, Caber

capital pending conclusion of an

Resources Limited for USD600 000

Trade and Invest 1 Proprietary Limited

agreement to sell certain assets to

and a royalty on ore sales.

and Gemsbok Magnetite Proprietary

Lemur.

Limited holding various rights to
vanadium and iron ore.

Refer to page 4 for more

Refer to page 4 for more

Refer to page 4 for more

information.

information.

information.

Broken Land Adventures Proprietary

Prior to subscription of shares by BLA,

SPM bought back its shares held in

Limited (“BLA”) subscribed for

all MEDR shareholders were issued

Sable Platinum Holdings Proprietary

200 000 000 shares at 4 cents each,

1:1 shares in Sable Platinum Mining

Limited (“SPH”), thereby divesting

resulting in BLA’s nominees holding

Limited (“SPM”).

SPM and the three subsidiaries

45,96% of the issued share capital of

mentioned above.

the company.
Refer to page 38 for more

Refer to page 38 for more

Refer to page 38 for more

information.

information.

information.

Sable Metals and Minerals Limited

Sable Metals and Minerals Limited

The board was restructured with the

therefore successfully divested all of

changed its name to Middle East

appointments of Sheikh Abdulla

its liabilities in the company (and SPH)

Diamond Resources Limited and

Khalfan Nasser, Said Tinawi, Richard

to SPM, other than liabilities to SPM

remain listed on the JSE with a focus

Mhlontlo and Mohammed Bassam Al

shown in the annual financial

on acquiring and developing diamond

Mojarkesh as non-executive directors.

statements.

assets.

Afzal Jagot was appointed as financial
director.

MEDR acquired the operations of the

Sheikh Abdullah Khalfan Nasser was

Kamfersdam dumps from Blain Capital

appointed non-executive chairman of

Solutions Proprietary Limited for a

the board and Richard Mhlontlo was

consideration of R14 million.

appointed lead independent director.

Refer to page 38 for more

Refer to page 40 for more

Refer to page 21 for more

information.

information.

information.
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Our values

Acting with integrity

Leading with courage

Serving with pride

Growing shareholder

Caring because there is

value through innovation

respect for one another

and superior performance

Our philosophy and principles

Our conduct shall at
all times conform to the
MEDR values

We are committed to

We share, protect and

complying with all

maintain the property and

applicable legislation and

information of MEDR, its

regulations

employees and its clients

We shall manage and
mitigate all conflicts
or perceived conflict
of interests

We are committed to fostering
and maintaining an equitable
and sustainable employeremployee relationship, including
the provision of a safe, healthy
and productive working
environment

MEDR Integrated annual report 2016
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Corporate profile

Sable Metals and Minerals Limited changed its name to Middle East

shareholders therefore received the same number of certificated

Diamond Resources Limited (“MEDR”), following the conclusion of the

shares in the unlisted entity, SPM. The disposal of a loan claim by

transaction whereby Broken Land Adventures Proprietary Limited

Sable Platinum Holdings Proprietary Limited (“SPH”) to James Allan,

(“BLA”) or its nominee, subscribed for ordinary shares in the company.

a related party, and subsequent offer of this loan to shareholders on

BLA would like MEDR to make acquisitions in the diamond mining
sector and various projects are being explored.

a pro rata basis is part of this scheme.
SPH owned shares in 15 subsidiaries, as more fully described in the

MEDR transferred all its liabilities to Sable Platinum Mining Limited

group structure on pages 4 and 5. MEDR owned four subsidiaries, of

(“SPM”) and SPM issued shares on a one for one basis to the

which three of these are in the process of being liquidated, as

shareholders (excluding BLA) of MEDR in certificated form. MEDR

indicated on the group structure below.

Operational structure
BEFORE TRANSACTION

Middle East Diamond Resources Limited
100%

100%

Sable Platinum Holdings
(Pty) Ltd

Corpcapital Investments
(Pty) Ltd

100%
Withdrawn Ltd
26%

74%

Roan Platinum (Pty) Ltd

100%
Corpcapital Investments 2
(Pty) Ltd

Thari Resources (Pty) Ltd
Option to First Land Limited to acquire
6,5% of Sable’s shares in Roan

Sable Platinum Mining Ltd
51%

Sable Platinum Joint Venture (Pty) Ltd

26%

BEE Partners

23%

Platinum Group Metals SA (Pty) Ltd

74%

Middlewave Trade and Invest 4 (Pty) Ltd

26%

BEE Partners

74%

Fast Pace Trade & Invest 32 (Pty) Ltd

26%

BEE Partners

51%

Coveway Trade & Invest 46 (Pty) Ltd

49%

BEE Partners

51%

Ochre Shimmer Trade & Invest 72 (Pty) Ltd

49%

BEE Partners

74%

Rickshaw Trade and Invest 86 (Pty) Ltd

26%

BEE Partners

74%

Squirewood Investments 98 (Pty) Ltd

26%

BEE Partners

51%

Bridge Line Trade and Invest (Pty) Ltd

49%

BEE Partners

74%

Saddle Path Props 54 (Pty) Ltd

26%

BEE Partners

74%

Fast Pull Trade and Invest (Pty) Ltd

26%

BEE Partners

74%

Dotfull Trading (Pty) Ltd

26%

BEE Partners

74%

Writer Star Trade and Invest (Pty) Ltd)

26%

BEE Partners

74%

Gemsbok Magnetite (Pty) Ltd

26%

BEE Partners

65%

Great 1 Line Invest (Pty) Ltd

35%

BEE Partners

51%

Caber Trade & Invest 1 (Pty) Ltd

49%

BEE Partners
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During 2015, Sable Metals and Minerals Limited (“SMM”) entered

Subsequent to year-end, MEDR has acquired the operations of

into an agreement with Lemur Resources Limited, an Australian

Kamfersdam from Blain Capital Solutions Proprietary Limited (“Blain

company, for the disposal of Great 1 Line Invest Proprietary Limited,

Capital”) for a consideration of R14 million, payable by the issue of

Gemsbok Magnetite Proprietary Limited and Caber Trade and Invest

40 000 000 shares at a price of 35 cents each. These shares will be

1 Proprietary Limited (“project companies”). As a result of the
transaction approved by shareholders on 25 January 2016, SPM and
the three project companies were divested from MEDR and is now a

issued every six months in four equal tranches of 10 000 000 shares
each provided the profit before tax for each six-month period is at
least R3,45 million. This operation will be managed by Blain Capital
during this two-year period.

separate group. The group was then restructured and SPM
transferred its shares in the remaining 12 subsidiaries to SPH.

MEDR is investigating further acquisitions in the diamond sector.

AFTER TRANSACTION

Middle East Diamond Resources Limited
100%

Sable Platinum Holdings (Pty) Ltd
26%
74%

Roan Platinum (Pty) Ltd

Option to First Land Limited to acquire
6,5% of Sable’s shares in Roan
26%

51%
Sable Platinum Joint Venture (Pty) Ltd

74%
74%
51%
51%
74%
74%
51%
74%
74%
74%
74%

Middlewave Trade and Invest 4 (Pty) Ltd
Fast Pace Trade & Invest 32 (Pty) Ltd
Coveway Trade & Invest 46 (Pty) Ltd
Ochre Shimmer Trade & Invest 72 (Pty) Ltd
Rickshaw Trade and Invest 86 (Pty) Ltd
Squirewood Investments 98 (Pty) Ltd
Bridge Line Trade and Invest (Pty) Ltd
Saddle Path Props 54 (Pty) Ltd
Fast Pull Trade and Invest (Pty) Ltd
Dotfull Trading (Pty) Ltd
Writer Star Trade and Invest (Pty) Ltd)

Thari Resources (Pty) Ltd

23%
26%
26%
49%
49%
26%
26%
49%
26%
26%
26%
26%

BEE Partners
Platinum Group Metals SA (Pty) Ltd*
BEE Partners
BEE Partners
BEE Partners
BEE Partners
BEE Partners
BEE Partners
BEE Partners
BEE Partners
BEE Partners
BEE Partners
BEE Partners

* In the process of transferring their 23% interest to Sable Platinum Holdings (Pty) Ltd, subject to pre-emptive rights.
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Tenure report

Application and
type of right

DMR reference

Farm name

Minerals

Period/status

Sable Platinum Joint

GP 30/5/1/1/2/

Various portions of the Farms Kafferskraal

PGMs

Renewal granted until

Venture Proprietary

332PR (G2)

308 JR, Wildebeeshoek 309 JR and

Uranium

29/04/2017

Wildebeeshoek 310 JR

Gold

Klipfontein project

Limited
Prospecting right

Chrome
Nickel
Copper
Molybdenum
Rare earths
Silver
Zinc
Cobalt
Lead

Sable Platinum Joint

GP 30/5/1/1/2/

Various portions of the Farms Klip-

PGMs

Renewal granted until

Venture Proprietary

349PR (G4)

Kruisfontein 708 JR, Wentzelrust 223 JR,

Uranium

03/12/2016

Limited

Medunsa 237 JR, and various erven in

Gold

Prospecting right

respect of Soshanguve South Township,

Chrome

South Township, Extension, Soshanguve

Nickel

East Township, Soshanguve East Extension

Copper

8 Township Rosslyn Extension, Rosslyn

Molybdenum

East Township, Rosslyn East Extension and

Rare earths

part of Orchards Township

Silver
Zinc
Cobalt
Lead

Bank project
Writer Star Trade and

NW 30/5/1/1/2/

The Farms Zandbult 119 JQ, and

Iron ore

Application accepted

Invest Proprietary Limited

11270PR

Zandfontein 124 JQ, North West

Tin ore

and in process. There

Vanadium

is an objection to this

Rutile

application being

Prospecting right

accepted at the DMR
and a RMDEC
meeting was held on
2 August 2016
Abrina project
Fast Pace Trade and

LP 30/5/1/1/2/

Portions 3, 5, 39, 40, 42, and the r/e of

PGMs

Retention permit

Invest 32 Proprietary

603PR

Portion 4 and the r/e of the Farm

Vanadium

applied for on

Limited

Leeuwkopje 415 KQ and the r/e of Portion

Iron ore

13/03/2015

Prospecting right

1, the r/e extent of Portion 3, the r/e of
Portion 5, Portions 6, 7, 8, 10 and 11 of the
Farm Kaalvlakte 416 KQ Thabazimbi

6
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Application and
type of right

DMR reference

Farm name

Minerals

Period/status

Ochre Shimmer Trade

NW 30/5/1/1/2/

Portion 3 of the Farm Uitvalgrond 431 JQ,

PGMs

29/06/2007 to

and Invest 72 Proprietary

1385PR

North West

Nickel ore

28/06/2011

Limited

Copper ore

Renewal lodged on

Prospecting right

Cobalt

18/07/2011

Uitvalgrond project

Gold ore
Chrome ore
Squirewood project
Squirewood Investments

LP 30/5/1/1/2/

98 Proprietary Limited

10434PR

Portion 2 Leeuwkopje

Prospecting right

Gold

Application accepted

Chrome

and in process

Nickel
Copper
Molybdenum
Rare earths
Silver
Cobalt
Zinc
Lead
Heavy minerals
Vanadium ore
Iron ore

Squirewood Investments

LP 30/5/1/1/2/

98 Proprietary Limited

11011PR

The Farm Einde 420 KQ, Limpopo

Prospecting right

Vanadium ore

Application accepted

Rutile

and in process

Tin ore
Iron ore

Squirewood Investments

LP 30/5/1/1/2/

The Farm Governements Plaats 417 KQ,

Iron ore

Application accepted

98 Proprietary Limited

11032 PR

Limpopo

Vanadium ore

and in process

Prospecting right

Lead
Rutile

Squirewood Investments

LP 30/5/1/1/2/

98 Proprietary Limited

11000PR

The Farm Witvley 423 KQ, Limpopo

Prospecting right

Vanadium ore

Application accepted

Rutile

and in process

Tin ore
Iron ore

Fast Pull Trade and Invest

NW30/5/1/1/3/

Proprietary Limited

2/1/11227PR

The farm Bierkraal 120JQ

Iron ore

Application accepted
and in process

Prospecting right

MEDR Integrated annual report 2016
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Technical review

MEDR was focused on corporate action for most of the year,

MINERAL RESOURCE AND RESERVE STATEMENT

notably the sale of the vanadium assets to Lemur Resources

It should be noted that three of the vanadium project areas,

Limited (“Lemur”) followed by the transaction with Broken Land

Syferfontein and Uitvalgrond Portion 2, Uitvalgrond Portion 3 as well

Adventures Proprietary Limited (“BLA”). Exploration was only

as Doornpoort were disposed to Lemur as approved at the

conducted on Uitvalgrond Portion 3 to confirm the results of the

shareholders’ meeting of 25 January 2016. Nonetheless, the technical

geophysical surveys done in the prior period. The boreholes drilled

report includes these properties for the period under review.

led to the conclusion of the transaction with Lemur. The companies
holding the vanadium rights to Uitvalgrond Portion 3, Doornpoort
and the rights to the Syferfontein project were sold to Lemur prior

No previous exploration work on the vanadium bearing magnetite
reefs was done by other parties on the exploration properties.
Magnetic surveys were done during the reporting period. These

to year-end.

surveys were used to confirm the continuity of the vanadium bearing

The current prospecting rights held by subsidiaries of MEDR are

reefs across the Doornpoort, Abrina and Uitvalgrond 3 exploration
properties.

limited to the following:
 Klipfontein project area (G2 and G4) for PGMs where these rights
are valid until November and December 2016 respectively;

During the period under review, three diamond-core boreholes were
drilled on the Uitvalgrond Portion 3 property. Minxcon Consulting

 Uitvalgrond project: Portions 1 and 3 of the farm Uitvalgrond for

Proprietary Limited compiled an Independent Competent Persons

PGMs where applications to renew the prospecting rights have

Report (“CPR”) and a summary of the SAMREC (South African Code

been lodged and in terms of the MPRDA these rights are valid for

for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Mineral

the period of processing the application; and

Reserves) compliant target and inferred resources is presented in the

 Abrina project for various portions of the farms Leeuwkopje and
Kaalvlakte where a retention permit has been applied for.

Area

Seam

table below. The complete report is available at the company’s
registered office.

Down
Min Max
Pit True
dip Min Max Min Max
strike strike Ave. depth width length Tons Tons V2O5 V2O5
(m)
(m) Dip
(m)
(m)
(m) (mt) (mt)
(%)
(%)

Min Max
Fe
Fe
(%)
(%)

Min Max
TiO2 TiO2
(%)
(%)

Abrina exploration target
Abrina –
East block

S2 (upper)

1 600 1 800

15

150

1,8

580

6,09

6,85

1,49

1,61 48,70 52,90 12,00 13,70

S1 (lower)

1 600 1 800

15

200

0,4

773

1,74

1,96

2,19

2,29 50,08 52,55 13,11 13,37

S (unknown upper)

100 1 800

15

100

0,4

386

0,05

0,98

*

Pipe

200

400

90

200 200,0

200 32,62 65,23

1,06

1,10 42,90 46,60 23,80 29,10

Abrina –
East block
Abrina –
West block

*

*

*

*

*

Abrina –
mag plug

Doornpoort exploration target
Doornpoort

S2 (upper)

1 700 5 500

20

200

1,0

585

3,70 11,96

1,73

2,02 53,40 55,30 13,00 13,70

Doornpoort

S1 (lower)

1 700 5 500

20

200

0,5

585

1,85

2,13

2,21 50,70 52,00 14,00 14,30

8

MEDR Integrated annual report 2016

5,98

Area

Seam

Down
Min Max
Pit True
dip Min Max Min Max
strike strike Ave. depth width length Tons Tons V2O5 V2O5
(m)
(m) Dip
(m)
(m)
(m) (mt) (mt)
(%)
(%)

Min Max
Fe
Fe
(%)
(%)

Min Max
TiO2 TiO2
(%)
(%)

Uitvalground Portion 3 exploration target
Uitvalgrond
Portion 3

Seam 2 (upper)

Uitvalgrond

Seam 1b

1 000 3 000

20

170

1,9

497

3,39 10,17

1,44

1,76 48,97 59,85 11,61 14,19

Portion 3

(intermediate)

250

750

20

150

2,0

439

0,41

1,22

1,04

1,27 38,27 46,77

Seam 1a (lower)

250

750

20

150

0,4

439

0,16

0,49

1,57

1,91 46,84 57,24 10,17 12,43

Disseminated layer

250

750

20

200

29,1

585 10,88 32,64

0,41

0,50 16,08 19,66

8,71 10,65

Uitvalgrond
Portion 3
Uitvalgrond
Portion 3

3,70

4,52

Notes:
*
Information unavailable.
1. Minimum strike length is based on observed outcrop.
2. Maximum strike length is based on magnetic anomaly, float observation and known continuity of the magnetite layers.
3. Geological loss applied is 20% across the board except for the magnetite pipe at Abrina which is 10%.
4. Magnetite layer width estimates are based on field observations and float spread on surface.
5. The SG applied for the tonnage is 4,53g/cm3 which is the arithmetic mean of four grab samples taken at Abrina.
6. The SG applied for the tonnage for the Uitvalgrond disseminated layer is 3,20g/cm3 which is the arithmetic mean of seven core samples.
7. The minimum and maximum grades applied are the lowest and highest values from the grab samples except for the Uitvalgrond S1, S2 and disseminated layer.
8. Uitvalgrond S1, S2 and disseminated layer values are from drillhole UUG302 and the minimum and maximum are the sample grades plus and minus 10%.
9. Pit depth for S1a, S1b and S2 Uitvalgrond was reduced to accommodate the inferred resource of 1,69 metres per tonne at Uitvalgrond.
10. The V2O5 grades for the sampling of the S1 layer at Doornpoort and Abrina do have higher than expected grades.

Area

Seam

Strike
(m)

True
width
(m)

On dip
length
(m)

Tons
(mt)

Grade
V2O5
(%)

Grade
Fe
(%)

Grade
TiO2
(%)

Uitvalgrond Portion 3 inferred mineral resources
Uitvalgrond Portion 3

Seam 2 (upper)

1 200

1,88

135

1,10

1,60

54,41

12,90

Uitvalgrond Portion 3 (intermediate)

Seam 1b

550

1,01

210

0,42

1,15

42,52

9,68

Uitvalgrond Portion 3

Seam 1a (lower)

550

0,38

210

0,16

1,74

52,04

11,30

Notes:
1.
S1a and S1b strike is based on drillhole UUG302 and the outcrop of S2.
2.
S2 strike length is based on drillhole UUG302, outcrop, float observation and general continuity of the S2 seam (Vametco pit 800 metres away).
3.
Seam true width is based on the sampling width of the magnetite seam in drillhole UUG302 and corrected for a 20 degree dip.
4.
Geological loss applied is 20% across the board.
5.
Down dip extent is limited to the mid-point between UUG302 and UUF301 as seam S2 did not continue to UUG301 and S1a had a reduce V2O5 value.
6.
Drill recoveries were very low which could affect the grades in the samples of UUG302.
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Technical review (continued)

Whilst the ore body contains vanadium, titanium and iron ore, the

The combined value based on the vanadium resource was calculated

extraction of these metals are interlinked. The mineral resources

between USD3,5 million and USD9,6 million excluding Abrina and

contain vanadium as well as iron and valuations were done on both

between USD8,9 million and USD19,5 million when Abrina was

of these metals. Owing to mining constraints, it is unlikely to recover

included.

only one mineral during the mining operation and values were

Valuation 2

reported separately for the respective commodities.

For the second valuation method, the cost approach was used on
One of the major constraints of the iron ore deposits of the company
is not necessarily the grade or size of the deposits but the location
of the iron ore relative to the market. This led to a decision that the
vanadium values would be a more representative value of the current
resource and it is believed that the mining and recovery of the
vanadium would be more economical, although potential upside
exists for iron ore extraction in the future.

the total expenditure incurred, to determine the full values of the
projects.

Valuation results
In order to be compliant with SAMREC, the legal tenure should be
verified to the satisfaction of the competent person and the security of
tenure held at the time of reporting should be reasonably expected to
be granted in the near future. The Abrina prospecting right has expired
and application has been made for a retention permit and a new

The main target of exploration is vanadium and valuations done in
the CPR ascribe value to vanadium and iron only. The following is an
extract from the CPR:

application has been lodged. The application for a new right still needs
to be accepted by the Department of Mineral Resources (“DMR”) and
the granting of retention permit remains to be granted by the DMR. If
the retention permit is granted then the new application will be

Summary valuation table (12.9(h)(xii))

rejected. If the retention permit is rejected then the new application

The competent person performed an independent valuation on the

should be accepted by the DMR and the right should be granted and

mineral assets of the company. Two valuation methodologies were

executed before the company becomes the holder of the right.

applied to the projects and are described in the following:

Because of the status of the mineral tenure, Abrina’s value is therefore
displayed as a combined and excluded value.

Valuation 1
For the first valuation method, the market approach was used on the

The combined value based on the vanadium resource was calculated

total mineral resources and exploration results, to determine the full

between USD3,5 million and USD9,6 million excluding Abrina and

values of the projects.

between USD8,9 million and USD19,5 million when Abrina is included.

Combined value (valuation 1)
Mineral resource
category

Min V2O5
tonnes2

Max V2O5
tonnes2

V2O5
Value (USD/t)

Min V2O5
Value (USD)

Max V2O5
Value (USD)

Doornpoort

Exploration target

103 317

373 725

11,27

1 164 742

4 213 197

Uitvalgrond Portion 3

Exploration target

99 631

365 314

11,46

1 128 667

4 138 446

Area

Uitvalgrond Portion 3

Inferred resource

25 289

25 289

47,10

1 201 827

1 201 827

Total value1

Excluding Abrina

228 237

764 328

13,90

3 495 236

9 553 470

Abrina

Exploration target

474 541

872 641

11,62

5 382 858

9 990 824

Total value

Combined

702 778

1 636 969

12,28

8 878 095

19 544 294

Notes:
1. Abrina application lodged but not yet accepted.
2. V2O5 value based on USD/tonne of metal content.

This historical value was used in the cost approach to derive a best estimated value of USD1,5 million excluding the Abrina portion.
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Project values (valuation 2)

Area

Phase description

PEM
(Low)

PEM
(Fair)

Historical
cost
PEM
(USD
(High)
‘000)

Best
Low estimated
value
value
(USD
(USD
‘000)
‘000)

High
value
(USD
‘000)

Doornpoort

Exploration target

2,0

3,0

4,0

38

75

113

151

Uitvalgrond Portion 3

Classification of inferred resources

4,5

5,5

6,5

259

1,165

1,424

1,683

Total*

Excluding Abrina

4,2

5,2

6,2

297

1,240

1,537

1,833

Abrina

Exploration target

2,0

3,0

4,0

259

518

777

1,036

Total

Combined

3,2

4,2

5,2

556

1,758

2,314

2,869

Note:
* Abrina application lodged but not yet accepted.

The value from the cost approach is less than the market approach because of the small expense on exploration on the project area by
the company.

Range of values
A range of values were calculated for the comparative valuation by determining an upper and lower range of tonnes that can be contained in
the exploration targets. By applying these ranges, a lower and upper value was determined for the total exploration target model as displayed
in the table below. Valuation 2 used the cost approach to determine the second full value of the project with the range of values being
calculated by the prospectivity enhancement multiplier (“PEM”), that is a factor applied to the total cost of exploration, the magnitude of which
is determined by the level of sophistication of the exploration, for which positive exploration results have been obtained.
Min V2O5
tonnes (Mt)

Max V2O5
tonnes (Mt)

Average V2O5
USD/t.3

Lower
value

Higher
value

Market approach1

0,228

0,764

13,90

3,49

9,55

2

0,703

1,637

12,28

8,88

19,54

Historic
expenditure
(USD’000)

PEM
low

PEM
high

Lower
value
USDm

Higher
value
USDm

Cost approach1

297

4,2

5,2

1,24

1,83

Cost approach2

556

3,2

5,2

1,76

2,87

Valuation 1

Market approach

Valuation 2

Note:
1. Value excluding Abrina.
2. Value including Abrina.
3. Average V2O5 value based on USD/tonne of metal content.
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Technical review (continued)

Because of higher confidence on the market approach valuation –

Odendaal, a director of Minxcon. Johan’s qualifications are BSc

based on actual transactions that took place – Minxcon placed a

(Geol.), BSc (Min. Econ.), MSc (Min. Eng.), Pr.Sci.Nat., FSAIMM,

higher weighting on it. By applying a weighting of 80% to valuation 1,

MGSSA and his business address is Coldstream Office Park, 2

and 20% to valuation 2, a best-estimated value of between

Coldstream Street, Little Falls, Roodepoort.

USD3,04 million and USD8,01 million was calculated, excluding
Abrina, and USD7,46 million and USD16,21 million, including
Abrina.

THE COMPANY’S PROJECTS
The company has a portfolio of prospecting rights in vanadium iron

It should be noted that the Doornpoort, Uitvalgrond Portion 3

ore and platinum group metals in the Bushveld Complex (“BC”) of

projects and the rights to the Syferfontein project were sold to Lemur

South Africa. The location of the vanadium projects is detailed in the

Resources Limited for a cash value of USD600 000 and a royalty of

figure below.

1,75% of the gross value of the products from the projects subject
to a minimum of ZAR (a) and a maximum of ZAR (b) where:
(a)

is determined to be 1,75% x (minimum price calculated to deliver
a 15% real rate of return over a 20-year life of mine designed to
mine a minimum of 500 000 tonnes per annum); and

(c)

is R9,62 per tonne, escalated annually by CPIX.

The maximum value of the royalty is therefore R4,8 million per

During the reporting period, no exploration work was conducted on
the platinum group metals projects and all efforts were directed at
the exploration of the vanadium and iron ore projects.

Regional geology
The company’s projects are located in the western lobe of the BC,
which is situated in the northern part of South Africa. The BC is a
geological feature which is unparalleled in the rest of the world for its

annum.

content of the platinum group metals, chromite, vanadium, titanium
and iron ore. The geology of this feature is astounding, in that it has

COMPETENT PERSON’S REPORT

a 300 km east-west extent and a 200 km north-south extent and a

The competent person’s report (“CPR”) was prepared by Minxcon

depth in the centre of 5 km, and the “reefs” in which the metals are

Consulting Proprietary Limited (“Minxcon”) and was signed by Johan

contained are continuous around its perimeter and also in depth.

Location of
project area
– map showing
platinum,
chrome and
vanadium
operations.

12

MEDR Integrated annual report 2016

The BC has four main zones, namely, starting from the bottom, the
basal zone, the critical zone, the main zone and the upper zone as
indicated in the figure to the right. The platinum group minerals
(“PGMs”) are located within the critical zone, mainly in the Merensky

Upper zone

reef and the upper group no.2 (“UG2”) reef. Within the critical zone
are also located the middle group reefs and the lower group reefs,
but these are mined for chrome, although they contain small
amounts of PGMs mined as by-products.

Brief description of regional geology
Platinum group metals
The BC is host to the largest PGM resource in the world. The PGMs

-36m
Upper

are concentrated mainly in the Merensky, platreef and UG2 reefs in
the critical zone of the BC. Typically the Merensky and UG2 reefs are

-20m

around 1 metre thick, whilst the platreef can be up to 50 metres thick.

intermediate
zone

In total there are fourteen reefs that contain platinum group metals in
the BC. The Merensky reef has the highest grade of up to 10 grams

-22m
Lower

per ton, situated in the north-eastern part of the BC, whilst the UG2
reef has a grade of typically around 6 grams per ton.

-20m

intermediate
zone

The company’s Abrina project is situated in this area. Previous
drilling done by the company confirms these grades in the northwestern BC.

Iron ore and vanadium

-30m

-20m

The vanadium, titanium and iron ore containing reefs are located in

Lower zone

the upper zone of the BC, in what is termed vanadiferous titano-

Anorthosite

magnetite (magnetite) or the vanadium magnetite reef. In the western
BC, the magnetite layers dip northwards at between 10° and 40°
along a general east-west strike. The reefs dip inwards towards the
centre of the BC and as such, the dips in the Abrina project area dip
south-eastwards.

Anorthosite
Disseminated magnetia

Vanadium pentoxide (V2O5) is concentrated within the mineral

Magnetite interval

magnetite. The magnetite layers are characterised by a specific range

Solid magnetite

of V2O5 with the average grades tending to decrease upwards. There
are around 23 layers of magnetite in the upper zone of the BC. The
highest V2O5 contents characteristically occur in the 10 m to 30 m
thick lower layer located in the lower zone (see image below), known
as layer 3. Layers 1 and 2, below layer 3, also have high concentrations
of V2O5, but these are each less than a metre thick. Decreasing
concentrations occur as one moves up into the overlying layers.

The upper zone of the BC is divided into a further lower,
lower intermediate, upper intermediate and upper zone as
shown above. The black bands in the diagram show the
location of the solid magnetite reefs.
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Technical review (continued)

The vanadium grades in the lower layers average around 1,5% to

resource or reserve statement, the following information is given in

2,2% vanadium pentoxide (“V2O5”), which is the form in which the

accordance with section 12.11 (iv) of the JSE Listings Requirements:

vanadium is present in the BC. The upper layer has, as yet, not been

 The relationship between mineralisation true widths and intercepted

mined and represents the lowest tenor and grade layer of less than

lengths is given on pages 8 and 9 of the integrated annual report;

1% vanadium pentoxide. Most operations in the area only exploit the

 Data and grade compositing methods and the basis for mineral

lower layer. Economically viable concentrations of both magnetite

equivalent calculations are given in the CPR as referred to on

and vanadium pentoxide also exist in the lower intermediate layer
and upper intermediate layer, currently being mined by Evraz
Highveld Steel at its Mapochs mine in the eastern BC.

pages 10 and 11 of the integrated annual report;
 Whilst the orebody contains vanadium, titanium and iron ore, the
extraction of these metals are interlinked. The main target of
exploration is vanadium and valuations done in the CPR ascribe

The titanium (“TiO2”) content of the layers is relatively constant.
Furthermore, the average V2O5 and titanium tenor in each layer is

value to vanadium and iron only (ie no value is given to the titanium
content of the ore);

laterally persistent. Like the vanadium pentoxide and titanium

 The representivity of reported results is low as only borehole

grades, the magnetite contents also display reasonable lateral

UUG302 was considered representative of the normal lower zone

uniformity. The titanium content is consistent within the various

layers. There are no other substantive exploration data and results

layers at 13% to 19%. The iron content is highest in the lower layers,
averaging 52% to 54% iron (Fe) while the upper layers have a lower
content.

other that included in the integrated annual report;
 There are no other substantive exploration data and results other
than what was included in the integrated annual report, as
extracted from the CPR;

It is known that, although the magnetite layers in the area are laterally

 Future exploration work to be done includes an initial drilling

continuous and the basal contact is easily recognisable, the

programme on Doornpoort, Uitvalgrond 3 and Abrina magnetite

thickness of the layers is difficult to quantify based on visual

projects, followed by an in-fill drilling programme. This is currently

identification of the magnetite content and, as such, detailed

in the planning phase;

sampling and drilling is necessary. Determining the vertical and

 The basic tonnage/volume, grade/quality, and economic

lateral continuity of vanadium pentoxide, titanium and magnetite in

parameters for the exploration target are included on pages 8 and

the lower group magnetite layers is an important issue as it will
impact on open pit design and production scheduling.

9 of the integrated annual report; and
 Sample and assay laboratory quality assurance and quality control
procedures were done by MEDR for boreholde UUG302, and are to

SUMMARY INFORMATION ON DATA DENSITY AND
DISTRIBUTION
During the period under review, three boreholes were drilled on the
Uitvalgrond Portion 3 project. Magnetic surveys conducted on
Uitvalgrond Portion 3, Doornpoort and Abrina projects in the prior
period proved the continuity of the outcropping magnetite reefs on
all three projects as parts of the areas that are covered by soil and
alluvium. The drilling results were incorporated into a competent
person’s report. Refer to pages 8 and 9 of the integrated annual
report for the results.
Drilling on the Uitvalgrond Portion 3 project commenced on
3 February 2015 and was completed on 11 February 2015. The drill
core of borehole UUG302 was submitted to Setpoint Laboratories
for assaying.

be done by Setpoint Laboratories.

Previous exploration work done by other parties
Drilling work was done by the previous permit holder of the Abrina
and the Doornpoort properties. The logs of these 25-odd borehole
intersections, on the Abrina project, report grades of 8 grams to
12 grams per ton 4PGM at depths of between 1 500 m and 3 000 m.
However, on further investigation by the company at the Council of
Geoscience’s core storage facility, we found reef intersections of the
Abrina borehole cores missing. Although the depths of the reefs were
identified, the various selected borehole cores examined have been
of no benefit to us. The Doornpoort core was found at the Doornpoort
property; however, the core of the reef intersections was missing. No
previous drilling work has been done on any of the other properties.
Given the current state of the platinum market, no further drilling is
planned on any platinum project in the financial year ending

EXPLORATION RESULTS NOT INCORPORATED IN THE MINERAL
RESOURCE AND RESERVE STATEMENT
A mineral resource statement is given only for Uitvalgrond Portion 3
in the CPR. Exploration targets are given for the other projects.
Hence, for the exploration results not incorporated in the mineral
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28 February 2017. No work was done in the period under review on
the platinum projects.
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Governance

Board of directors

Sheikh Abdulla Khalfan Humaid Nasser (49)

Michaeline Mpho Mokgatlhe (37)

Non-executive chairman

Independent non-executive director

BCom MBA

CA(SA)

Appointed: 29 February 2016

Resigned: 29 July 2016

Sheikh Abdulla Khalfan Humaid Nasser holds the degrees BCom MBA from

Mpho Mokgatlhe started her career in 2000 as a trainee accountant with

the Sheik Zayed University of the United Arab Emirates (“UAE”). He was

Gobodo Incorporated, after completing her BCom degree at the University of

formerly employed as a member of the Ministry of the Interior of the UAE and

the North West. She completed her BCompt (Hons) at the University of South

a senior member of the UAE Police Force. He is currently a real estate

Africa and later qualified as a CA(SA). On completion of her articles, Mpho

developer in the Emirates of Dubai, Sharjah and Ajman. He is in the process of

joined Eskom Distribution as head of accounts receivables, and was later

setting up a cutting and polishing works for rough diamonds in the UAE.

promoted to senior advisor: financial planning and performance. Mpho later

Sheikh Khalfan Humaid Nasser was appointed on 29 February 2016.

joined Anglo Platinum and worked in different departments, including shared
services, joint ventures and business development. Mpho is currently
commercial project manager at Siemens in the Wind Power division. She is
also an independent non-executive director of Fox Consultants and Project
Managers Proprietary Limited. Mpho resigned as independent non-executive
director on 29 July 2016.

Michael Howard Rogers (72)

Charles Philip Mostert (59)

Lead independent non-executive director

Independent non-executive director

BSc (Rand) Min. Eng. 1967, Pr. Eng., FSAIMM

BCom (Hons), MBL, Certificate in Mining Taxation

Resigned: 29 July 2016

Resigned: 29 July 2016

Mike Rogers is a graduate in mining engineering from the University of the

Charles Mostert has 33 years’ experience in the mining industry, which

Witwatersrand. He has some 50 years’ experience in operational, technical

includes 22 years with South African mining majors, and 11 years with

and executive capacities in the coal, platinum, gold and antimony mines and

Australian and Canadian junior mining companies. He has served as chairman/

business in South Africa and in copper in Namibia. At present he is an

chief executive director/director of 12 resource companies listed on the

independent non-executive director of Royal Bafokeng Platinum Limited and

Australian or Canadian Stock Exchanges with over USD400 million in capital

the independent non-executive chairman of Fox Consultants and Project

raisings. His resources experience includes gold, diamonds, coal, copper,

Managers Proprietary Limited. He is chairman of the PAC Mining of the

platinum and iron ore. He served as President – African Business Development

Engineering Council of SA and a past President of the Southern African

for Forbes and Manhattan Inc., a Canadian Merchant Bank where he was

Institute of Mining and Metallurgy. Mike resigned as independent non-

actively involved in co-leading transactions for Slater Coal, Sable Metals and

executive director on 29 July 2016.

Minerals, Bengwenyama Platinum, Savary Gold and Transnet/Richards Bay
Coal logistics. His current and immediate past directorships include Savary
Gold (TSX-V), Sable Metals and Minerals Ltd, Keras Capital Proprietary Limited
(Aus), Kombat Copper Inc. (TSX –V), Minxcon Proprietary Limited, Rera
Diamonds (Private) Limited and SunRanch Solar Proprietary Limited. Charles
resigned as an independent non-executive director on 29 July 2016.

James Gordon Allan (57)

David Norton Levithan (60)

Chief executive officer

Non-executive director

BSc (Eng) (Mining) MBA

BA LLB

Appointed: 23 November 2012

Resigned: 20 September 2016

James Allan is a co-founder and a director of Sable Platinum Holdings

David Levithan is a co-founder and a director of Sable Platinum Holdings

Proprietary Limited. He has been involved in the mining and financial service

Proprietary Limited. He has been an admitted attorney for some 31 years. For

industries for the past 32 years. During this time he has been a partner at

the last 16 years he has specialised in minerals law and has experience in

Anderson Wilson and Partners, Barnard Jacobs Mellet and became a top rated

several aspects of commercial law, including mergers and acquisitions,

diamond analyst. He has started a number of companies in the mining

corporate reconstruction and litigation. David resigned as a non-executive

industry. In 2006 he formed Allan Hochreiter Proprietary Limited with René

director on 20 September 2016.

Hochreiter and Sable Platinum Mining Proprietary Limited with René Hochreiter
and David Levithan.
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Eshaan Singh (32)

Mohammed Bassam Al Mojarkesh (59)

Part-time financial director

Independent non-executive director

BCompt

DCE Diploma in Civil Engineering

Resigned: 29 July 2016

Appointed: 29 July 2016

Eshaan Singh holds a BCompt degree from the University of South Africa and

Mohammed is a geologist with a diploma in civil engineering having trained in

has worked at various audit and securities firms, including Citi Bank group,

both disciplines at Damascus University. He has worked extensively in the

Deutsche Securities South Africa, Glass Tucker and Venter and STA Travel

Middle East in the oil and gas and construction industries. Mohammed is

International Limited in the UK. Eshaan currently holds the position of Financial

currently working as a consultant and business development director to a

Manager, Noah Capital. Eshaan resigned as part-time financial director on

number of companies in the Middle East. He has 36 years’ experience in his

29 July 2016.

fields of expertise. Mohammed was appointed as independent non-executive
director on 29 July 2016.

Mohamed Said Tinawi (58)

Afzal Ahmed Jagot (56)

Non-executive director

Financial director

MBA

BAcc, BCompt Honours (CTA), CA(SA)

Appointed: 29 February 2016

Appointed: 29 July 2016

Mohamed Said Tinawi holds an MBA degree from the Damascus University of

Afzal qualified as a Chartered Accountant in 1992 and is currently in private

Economic and Commerce Syria, and is currently a Technical and Commercial

practice. He served as an audit trainee at Kessel Feinstein (now Grant

Consultant for Lojain Trading and Contracting Company, and a Consultant at

Thornton) and also a senior audit manager at Arthur Andersen and Company.

Telal Oil Refinery Saudi Arabia. He is also a Consultant for industrial projects

Afzal was an accounts graduate trainee at Elandsrand Gold Mining Company

for international companies in the Middle east region. He has in excess of

in 1988. Afzal was appointed as financial director on 29 July 2016.

35 years’ experience in the fields of crude oil, petroleum products, trading,
virgin and recycled base oil trading. Said was appointed as non-executive
director on 29 February 2016.

Richard Mhlontlo (42)
Lead independent non-executive director
National Diploma: Human Resources Management
Appointed: 29 July 2016
Richard started his career in the public sector as an administrator for local
government and later progressed to the level of senior manager. He then had
the opportunity to join the mining industry (gold) in early 2000 where he was
mainly responsible for central bargaining with trade unions and all other nonaffiliated parties until 2008. Richard joined Rockwell Diamonds in 2009 as
human resources/investor relations manager and later became the group
manager for the same discipline which provided him with a much bigger scope
on the business as this role was at executive level. He occupied this position
until the end of August 2016. Richard was appointed as independent nonexecutive director on 29 July 2016.
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Leadership report

MEDR continued to implement its revised strategy during 2015/2016

Eshaan Singh was appointed as part-time financial director on

with focus being on the diversification from platinum to other

31 August 2015, with the approval of the JSE, for the duration of the

minerals with lower barriers to entry and the potential to provide early

transaction, as he is also the financial director of a stockbroking firm

revenue streams.

(Noah Capital). Neither Noah Capital, nor Eshaan Singh were allowed
to trade in the company’s shares. The transaction has been

The downturn in commodity prices and the fallout from the industrial

completed and Eshaan has accordingly resigned with effect from

unrest in the country resulted in the general curtailment of capital

29 July 2016. Afzal Jagot has been appointed as financial director

expenditure on exploration and a difficult investor climate in which to

with effect from 29 July 2016. Subsequently, David Levithan also

raise funds.

resigned as non-executive director on 20 September 2016.

During 2015, Broken Land Adventures Proprietary Limited (“BLA”)

I would like to welcome Sheikh Abdulla Khalfan Humaid Nasser, Said

engaged the company to subscribe for 200 000 000 new shares in

Tinawi, Mohammed Bassam Al Mojarkesh, Richard Mhlontlo and

the company for a cash consideration of 4 cents per share for an

Afzal Jagot to the board, and look forward to their contributions to

aggregate amount of R8 million, subject to certain conditions. Part of

our deliberations.

the transaction was the divesting of all its liabilities in MEDR and
Sable Platinum Holdings Proprietary Limited (“SPH”) to Sable

I would like to thank Mike Rogers, Mpho Mokgatlhe, Charles Mostert

Platinum Mining Limited (“SPM”). The shares in SPM will be

and David Levithan for their continued guidance and wisdom over

unbundled to the shareholders in MEDR in certificated form.

the time they have been board members. David will remain in his
capacity as legal advisor to the company. Mike has also contributed

SPM also owns shares in Great 1 Line Invest Proprietary Limited,

greatly during his period as chairman. I would also like to thank

Gemsbok Magnetite Proprietary Limited and Caber Trade and

Eshaan Singh for his support and assistance during his period as

Invest 1 Proprietary Limited (“the project companies”), and entered

part-time financial director.

into an agreement with Lemur Resources Limited (“Lemur”), for the
disposal of the project companies to Lemur. The company entered

While we have experienced disappointments during the year and the

into a loan agreement with Lemur in order to provide working

transaction took longer than expected, despite the efforts and

capital in the interim.

outstanding support from Exchange Sponsors, the company has
made progress in implementing the new strategy. This is evident

Willie Thabe, Botha Schabort and René Hochreiter resigned during

from the agreement signed with Blain Capital Solutions Proprietary

the year. The board and shareholders extend their thanks to them for

Limited for the acquisition of the Kamfersdam operations. Future

their services rendered.

growth in the company and acquisition and development of diamond
assets will require additional capital from shareholders, and we look

Following the subscription by BLA, they nominated Sheikh Abdulla

forward to this support from the Middle Eastern investors who have

Khalfan Humaid Nasser and Said Tinawi as non-executive chairman

confidence in the long-term demand for diamonds.

and non-executive director, and their appointment was approved by
the board on 29 February 2016. Mike Rogers stepped down as
independent chairman, and was appointed as lead independent
director.
On 29 July 2016, part of restructuring the board, Mike Rogers, Mpho
Mokgatlhe and Charles Mostert resigned as independent non-

James Allan

executive directors. Mohammed Bassam Al Mojarkesh and Richard

Chief executive officer

Mhlontlo were appointed as independent non-executive directors to
the company.
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Governance reporting structure

Board of directors as at 23 September 2016

Abdulla Khalfan Humaid Nasser
(Non-executive chairman)

Richard Mhlontlo
(Lead independent
non-executive director)

James Allan
(Chief executive officer)

Afzal Jagot

Mohammed Bassam Al Mojarkesh

Said Tinawi

(Financial director)

(Independent non-executive director)

(Non-executive director)

Willie Thabe resigned 16 July 2015.
Mike Rogers resigned 29 July 2016.
Eshaan Singh resigned 29 July 2016.

Audit and risk
committee

Botha Schabort resigned 31 August 2015.
Mpho Mokgathle resigned 29 July 2016.
David Levithan resigned 20 September 2016

Remuneration and
nominations committee

René Hochreiter resigned 7 March 2016.
Charles Mostert resigned 29 July 2016.

Social and ethics
committee

Richard Mhlontlo
Vacant

(Chairman)

(Chairman)

Richard Mhlontlo
(Chairman)

Said Tinawi
Mohammed Bassam

James Allan

Al Mojarkesh
Mohammed Bassam
Al Mojarkesh

Richard Mhlontlo

Abdulla Khalfan

Said Tinawi

Humaid Nasser
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Corporate governance report

The board recognises that good corporate governance is essential to protect and balance the interests of all its stakeholders. The group is
committed to the principles of transparency, fairness, integrity and accountability in its dealings with all stakeholders.

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
The board has acquainted itself with the extent to which the company complies with the JSE Listings Requirements and the King Code of
Corporate Governance Principles for South Africa 2009 (“King III”). Where there are instances of non- or partial compliance, it is because the
group has elected not to apply certain recommendations of King III for specific reasons.
The company complies with all requirements, except for the following:
Principle(s)
Principle 2.6

Compliance
The board should ensure that the

Non-compliant

Application of the principle
The audit and risk committee consists of two non-

company has an effective and

executive directors, both whom are independent. A third

independent audit committee

independent member is in the process of being
appointed, following the restructuring of the board.

Principle 2.10

The board should ensure that there

Not applied

The board is of the opinion that the appointment of an

is an effective risk-based internal

internal auditor is not justified due to the size of the

audit

group and the lack of complexity of its operations. This
will be reviewed on an annual basis.

Principle 2.16

Principle 2.18

Principle 2.24

The board should elect a chairman

Partially applied

Sheikh Abdulla Khalfan Humaid Nasser is a non-

of the board who is an independent

executive chairman and his role is separate to that of

non-executive director. The CEO of

the chief executive officer, James Allan. Richard

the company should not also fulfil

Mhlontlo was appointed as lead independent non-

the role of chairman of the board

executive director.

The board should comprise a

Partially applied

Four of the six directors are non-executive directors.

balance of power, with majority of

Two of the four non-executive directors are independent.

non-executive directors. The

The board is in the process of appointing a third

majority of non-executive directors

independent non-executive director to have the majority

should be independent

of non-executive directors independent.

A governance framework should be

Not applied

agreed between the group and its

A formal governance framework for wholly and
partly-owned subsidiaries has still to be developed.

subsidiary boards
Principle 3.1

The board should ensure that the

Non-compliant

The committee comprises two non-executive directors,

company has an effective and

both of whom are independent. A third independent

independent audit committee

non-executive director is in the process of being
appointed.

Principle 3.3

Principle 3.7

20

The audit committee should be

Non-compliant

The board is in the process of appointing a third

chaired by an independent

independent non-executive director to chair the

non-executive director

committee.

The audit committee should be

Not applied

The committee agreed that, due to the size of the

responsible for overseeing of

company and the lack of complexity in its current

internal audit

operations, an internal auditor will not be appointed.
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Principle(s)
Principle 7.1 – 7.5

Principle 9.3

Compliance
The board should ensure that there

Not applied

Application of the principle
The board agreed not to appoint an internal auditor due

is an effective risk-based internal

to the size of the company and the lack of complexity of

audit

its current operations.

Sustainability reporting and

Not applied

Sustainability reporting is currently being self-assured.

disclosure should be independently
assured

A detailed summary of the application of King III is listed on the

During the reporting period, Willie Thabe, Botha Schabort and René

company’s website www.mediamonds.co.za.

Hochreiter resigned as non-executive directors, effective 16 July
2015, 31 August 2015 and 6 March 2016 respectively.

The board notes the non-compliance of section 94(2) and section
30(1) of the Companies Act, 2008 as amended (“the Act”). The

Following the subscription of shares by Broken Land Adventures

board is in the process of appointing a third independent non-

Proprietary Limited (“BLA”), they nominated for appointment Sheikh

executive director that can also chair the audit and risk committee.

Abdulla Khalfan Humaid Nasser and Said Tinawi on 29 February 2016.

The board failed to approve the annual financial statements for the

BLA further nominated and appointed Mohammed Bassam Al

year ended 29 February 2016 within six months and only approved

Mojarkesh and Richard Mhlontlo as independent non-executive

the integrated report, including the annual financial statements, on

directors on 29 July 2016 and Mike Rogers, Mpho Mokgatlhe and

20 September 2016.

Charles Mostert resigned subsequently on the same date. Sheikh
Abdulla Khalfan Humaid Nasser was appointed as non-executive

ETHICAL LEADERSHIP AND CORPORATE CITIZENSHIP
The group is committed to achieving its goals with integrity, high
ethical standards and in compliance with all applicable laws. The
board has adopted a code of ethics and business conduct, which is
continuously reviewed and updated as appropriate. The directors are
fully committed to these principles, which ensure that the business
is managed according to its highest standards within the mining
industry, as well as social, political and physical environment within
which the group operates. No material ethical leadership and
corporate citizenship deficiencies were noted.
MEDR did not receive any requests during the financial year in terms
of the Promotion of Access to Information Act (Act 2 of 2000).

chairman and Richard Mhlontlo was appointed as lead independent
to Sheikh Abdulla Khalfan Humaid Nasser. Eshaan Singh resigned as
part-time financial director and Afzal Ahmed Jagot was appointed as
financial director of the company effective 29 July 2016.
The responsibility of all directors is clearly divided to ensure a
balance of power and authority to prevent unfettered powers of
decision-making. The executive directors have an overall
responsibility for implementing the group’s strategy and managing its
day-to-day operations. The board is of the view that all nonexecutive directors bring independent judgement to bear on material
decisions of the company.
Members of the board are appointed by the group’s shareholders,
although the board also has the authority to appoint directors to fill

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

any vacancy that may arise from time to time. These appointments,

The board acts as the focal point and custodian of corporate

which are a matter for the board as a whole, are made in terms of a

governance. Substance above form is effective at all levels, and is an

formal and transparent procedure within the appointments to the

integral part of the group’s corporate culture.

board policy and subject to ratification by shareholders at the next
annual general meeting (“AGM”).

Composition of the board
The board is based on a unitary structure and exercises full and

Members are appointed on the basis of skills, experience and their

effective control over the group. It comprises six members, two

level of contribution to the activities of the group. The remuneration

executive directors and four non-executive directors, two of whom

and nomination committee is mandated to identify and recommend

are independent. An independent non-executive director with

candidates for the board’s consideration through a formal and

suitable financial qualifications will be appointed to chair the audit

transparent process. New appointments are appropriately familiarised

and risk committee.

with the group’s business through an induction programme. The

MEDR Integrated annual report 2016

21

Governance

Corporate governance report (continued)

composition of the board is reviewed on a regular basis to ensure

judgement on areas such as strategy, performance, transformation,

ongoing compliance with the requirements entailed in the Act and

diversity and employment equity.

King III.

Company secretary
In terms of the company’s memorandum of incorporation, one-third

The company secretary plays a vital role in the corporate governance of

of the directors rotate at the annual general meeting. Sheikh Abdulla

the group and is responsible for ensuring board compliance with

Khalfan Humaid Nasser and Said Tinawi will rotate and, being

procedures and regulations of a statutory nature. The company secretary

eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

ensures compliance with the Listings Requirements of the JSE.

The strategy of the group is mapped by the board in conference with

The company secretary ensures that, in accordance with the pertinent

the executive team and the group’s strategic objectives are reviewed

laws and regulatory framework, the proceedings and affairs of the

at each meeting.

board and its members, the company itself and, where appropriate,
the owners of securities in the company, are properly administered.

The board is responsible for monitoring and reporting on the

The company secretary is the secretary of all the board committees.

effectiveness of the company’s system of internal control. It is
assisted by the audit and risk committee in the discharge of this

Through an evaluation, the board satisfied itself regarding Sirkien van

responsibility.

Schalkwyk’s, representing Juba Statutory Services (Pty) Ltd, work
experience, performance and technical skills in fulfilling her role as

The non-executive directors derive no benefit from the company

company secretary. She is a consultant and maintains an arm’s

other than their fees and emoluments as proposed by the board

length relationship with the board and individual directors in terms of

through the remuneration and nomination committee and approved

section 3.84(j) of the JSE Listings Requirements.

by shareholders at the group’s annual general meeting.

Board processes
The chairman

The directors have access to the advice and services of the company

The chairman’s role is to set the ethical tone for the board and to

secretary. They are entitled, at the company’s expense, to seek

ensure that the board remains efficient, focused and operates as a

independent professional advice about the affairs of the company

unit. During the reporting period, Mike Rogers was the independent

regarding the execution of their duties as directors.

non-executive chairman and his role was separate from that of the
chief executive officer. At year-end, Sheikh Abdulla Khalfan Humaid

A board charter is in place and outlines the responsibilities of the

Nasser was appointed as non-executive director, and Richard

board. The charter also addresses issues such as the composition

Mhlontlo appointed as lead independent director.

and size of the board, board procedures, matters reserved for board
decision and the frequency and proceedings of board meetings.

Mike Rogers provided overall leadership to the board and chief
executive officer during the reporting period, without limiting the

When subsidiaries become operational, a formal governance

principle of collective responsibility for board decisions. The chairman

framework for wholly-owned and partly-owned subsidiaries will be

is also responsible for the annual appraisal of the chief executive

developed.

officer’s performance and he oversees the formal succession plan for
the board.

Interest in contracts
During the reporting period, 200 000 000 ordinary shares were issued to

The chief executive officer

BLA and another 7 214 709 to participants in the Share Scheme when

The chief executive officer reports to the board and is responsible for

these options have vested subsequent to the transaction with BLA.

the day-to-day business of the group and implementation of policies
and strategies approved by the board. Board authority conferred on

Except for the above, no other director had a significant interest in

management is delegated through the chief executive officer, against

any contract or arrangement entered into by the company other than

approved authority levels.

as disclosed on page 84.

Non-executive directors

Directors are required to inform the board timeously of conflicts or

All members of the board have a fiduciary responsibility to represent

potential conflicts of interest they may have in relation to particular

the best interest of the group and all of its stakeholders. The group’s

items of business. Directors are obliged to excuse themselves from

non-executive directors are individuals of high calibre and credibility

discussions or decisions on matters in which they have a conflict of

who make a significant contribution to the board’s deliberations and

interest. The procedures around conflicts of interests are included in

decisions. They have the necessary skill and experience to exercise

the board charter.
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Directors’ dealings in shares

As part of the escrow shares arrangement, and approved on

Directors of the company and its major subsidiaries may not deal in

25 January 2016, James Allan, René Hochreiter and David Levithan

the company’s shares without first advising and obtaining clearance

(via Yawara Capital Proprietary Limited) also received their allocation

from the chairman and/or chief executive officer. The chief executive

of shares that was held in escrow by Java Capital Trustees and

officer and financial director may not deal in the company’s shares

Sponsors Proprietary Limited on 31 August 2016.

without first advising and obtaining clearance from the chairman. No
director or executive may trade in MEDR shares during closed

Evaluation of board performance

periods, as defined in the JSE Listings Requirements. The directors

The company secretary conducted a self-evaluation exercise of the

of the company keep the company secretary advised of all their

board’s performance, mix of skills and individual contributions of

dealings in securities and details of dealings are placed on SENS in

directors, its achievements in terms of corporate governance and the

line with the JSE Listings Requirements.

effectiveness of its board committees. The board was found to have
operated and functioned effectively during the reporting period.

Other than the exercising of share options by James Allan, René
Hochreiter and David Levithan (via Yawara Capital Proprietary
Limited), no shares have been traded by the directors during the year
under review. Refer to page 30 for more information.

Board and sub-committee attendance for the period under review
The following board meetings were held during the reporting period:

2016
Board meetings

29 April
2015

8 May
2015
(special)

11 June
2015
(special)

Botha Schabort

9

9

9

Charles Mostert

8

9

9

David Levithan

9

9

9

James Allan

9

9

9

Mike Rogers

9

9

9

Mpho Mokgatlhe

9

9

9

René Hochreiter

9

9

8

Willie Thabe

9

9

8

16 July
2015
(special)

31 July
2015
(special)

5 August
2015
(Independent)

Botha Schabort

8

9

n/a

Charles Mostert

9

9

9

David Levithan

9

8

n/a

James Allan

9

9

9

Mike Rogers

9

9

9

Mpho Mokgatlhe

9

9

9

René Hochreiter

9

9

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

Willie Thabe
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7 August
2015
(special)

19 November
2015

9 February
2016

Botha Schabort

9

n/a

n/a

Charles Mostert

9

9

9

David Levithan

9

8

8

James Allan

9

9

9

Mike Rogers

9

9

9

8

9

8

René Hochreiter

n/a

9

9

Willie Thabe

n/a

n/a

n/a

29 April
2015

21 May
2015

19 November
2015

Charles Mostert

9

9

9

Mike Rogers

9

9

8

Mpho Mokgatlhe

9

9

9

Willie Thabe

9

9

n/a

Mpho Mokgatlhe

Audit and risk committee

9 February
2016

Audit and risk committee
Charles Mostert

9

Mike Rogers

9

Mpho Mokgatlhe

8

Willie Thabe

n/a

29 April
2015

31 July
2015

9 February
2016

Charles Mostert

9

9

9

Mike Rogers

9

9

9

Mpho Mokgatlhe

9

9

8

Willie Thabe

9

9

n/a

Remuneration and nomination committee

Remuneration committee

23 February
2016

Charles Mostert

9

Mike Rogers

9

Mpho Mokgatlhe
Willie Thabe
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9
n/a

29 April
2015

9 February
2016

n/a

9

James Allan

9

9

René Hochreiter

9

9

Willie Thabe

9

n/a

Social and ethics committee
Charles Mostert

n/a Not appointed yet, have resigned or were not required at the meeting.

BOARD COMMITTEES

In reviewing the committee composition during the year, it was

While the board remains accountable and responsible for the

decided that, due to the size of the company, the audit committee

performance and affairs of the company, it delegates to management

and risk committee remain as one committee. The agenda is divided

and board committees certain functions to assist it in properly

into two sections to be able to attend to both audit and risk

discharging its duties. The nature and scope of authority of each

management responsibilities. The composition of the committee

committee is detailed in its terms of reference, which is approved by

currently does not meet the requirements of the Companies Act and

the board.

King III, consisting of a minimum of three non-executive directors,
acting independently. In accordance with the requirements of King III,

The chairman of each board committee reports at each scheduled

the chief executive officer, financial director and external auditors

meeting of the board and minutes of board committee meetings are

attend by invitation.

provided to the board. Where possible all the members of each
board committee are non-executive directors, except for the social

A report from the chairman of the committee during the reporting

and ethics committee, which includes an executive director as

period can be found on pages 27 and 28 of the integrated annual

member.

report.

Both the directors and the members of the board committees are

Remuneration and nominations committee

supplied with full and timeous information that enables them to

During the reporting period, the committee comprised Charles

properly discharge their responsibilities. All directors have

Mostert (chairman), Mike Rogers and Mpho Mokgatlhe. The chief

unrestricted access to all group information.

executive officer attend by invitation. Willie Thabe resigned as a
director and member of the committee effective 16 July 2016.

The chairman of each board committee is required to attend the
annual general meeting to respond to issues or answer questions

As part of the restructuring, Charles Mostert, Mike Rogers and Mpho

raised by shareholders.

Mokgatlhe resigned as directors and members of the committee
effective 29 July 2016. Richard Mhlontlo (chairman), Mohammed

The established board committees are:

Bassam Al Mojarkesh, Said Tinawi and Abdulla Khalfan Humaid
Nasser have been appointed to the remuneration and nominations

Audit and risk committee

committee, effective 31 July 2016. A third independent non-

During the reporting period, the members of the audit and risk

executive director will still be appointed to the committee.

committee were Mpho Mokgatlhe (chairman), Charles Mostert and
Mike Rogers, all independent non-executive directors. Willie Thabe

The chairman of the board is not eligible for appointment as

resigned as a director and member of the committee, effective

chairman of the committee, but Abdulla Khalfan Humaid Nasser will

16 July 2016.

preside as chairman when the committee fulfils its oversight
responsibilities

As part of the restructuring, Mpho Mokgatlhe, Mike Rogers and

on

nomination

matters

and

board/director

interactions.

Charles Mostert resigned as directors and members of the committee
effective 29 July 2016. Mohammed Bassam Al Mojarkesh and

Although the board evaluates the chairman annually, election of the

Richard Mhlontlo have been appointed to the audit and risk

chairman does not occur annually, but only when required.

committee, effective 31 July 2016. A third independent director with
the appropriate financial skills was being sought to chair the

The remuneration committee report pertaining to the reporting period

committee.

can be found on pages 29 and 30 of the integrated annual report.
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Social and ethics committee

The board is of the opinion that the auditors observe the highest level

The members comprised Charles Mostert (chairman), James Allan

of business and professional ethics and that their independence is

and Mike Rogers. During the period, Willie Thabe and René

not in any way impaired. The group aims for efficient audit processes

Hochreiter resigned as directors and members of the committee and

through periodic meetings between the board and the auditors to

was replaced by Charles Mostert and Mike Rogers, effective 16 July

discuss matters of mutual interest, management letters and reports,

2015 and 7 March 2016 respectively.

and a common understanding of audit techniques, methods and
terminology.

As part of the restructuring, Charles Mostert and Mike Rogers
resigned as directors and members of the committee, effective 29

External and internal audit

July 2016, and was replaced by Richard Mhlontlo (chairman) and

PKF (VGA) Chartered Accountants was appointed as external

Said Tinawi on 31 July 2016.

auditors effective 1 April 2016 and report on whether the annual
financial statements are fairly represented in accordance with IFRS

The social and ethics committee report for the period under review

and the Act. Due to the size and stage of development of the

can be found on pages 31 and 32 of the integrated annual report.

company, no internal audit function currently exists, nor has external
assurance been obtained in respect of the sustainability information
included in the integrated annual report.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Annual financial statements

Risk management

The board acknowledges its responsibility for ensuring the

The focus of risk management in MEDR is on identifying, assessing,

preparation of the annual financial statements in accordance with

mitigating, managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across

IFRS and the JSE Listings Requirements. The board is also

the group. Management is involved in a continuous process of

responsible for ensuring the maintenance of adequate accounting

developing and enhancing its comprehensive systems for risk

records and effective systems of internal control and delegates the

identification and management. The major risks are the subject of

activities relating to this to the audit and risk committee.

the on-going attention of the board.
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Audit and risk committee report

The audit and risk committee operates under a formal mandate that

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

has been approved by the board and has conducted its affairs in

During the year under review, the committee undertook the following:
 accepted the resignation of Grant Thornton due to the committee

compliance and discharged its responsibilities as stipulated in the
committee terms of reference. The audit and risk committee terms of
reference are available on request.

not being satisfied with their services;
 nominated PKF (VGA) Chartered Accountants as the external
auditor, with Herman Nieuwoudt as the designated auditor to the

Due to the size of the company, the board made a decision to

shareholders for appointment as auditor for the financial year

combine the audit and risk committees and attend to both audit and

ended 29 February 2016 effective 1 April 2016 and ensured that

risk responsibilities in one committee.

the appointment complied with all legal and regulatory requirements
for the appointment of an auditor;
 confirmed that the auditor and the designated auditor are

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE MEMBERS
During the reporting period, the committee consisted of three nonexecutive directors, all of whom were independent. During this
period, Willie Thabe resigned on 16 July 2015 and was not replaced.
The members of the audit and risk committee for the reporting period

accredited by the JSE;
 approved the external audit engagement letter, the plan and the
budgeted audit fees payable to the external auditor;
 reviewed the audit and evaluated the effectiveness of the auditor;
 obtained a statement from the auditor confirming that its

The committee’s composition was in line with the requirements of

independence was not impaired;
 determined the nature and extent of all non-audit services

the Companies Act, having a minimum of three independent non-

provided by the external auditor and pre-approved all non-audit

were Mpho Mokgatlhe (chairman), Charles Mostert and Mike Rogers.

executive directors.

services undertaken;
 obtained assurances from the external auditor that adequate

As part of the restructuring of the board, Mpho Mokgathle, Charles
Mostert and Mike Rogers resigned as directors and members of the

accounting records were being maintained; and
 nominated the external auditor and the designated independent

committee on 29 July 2016. Subsequently, Mohammed Bassam Al

auditor for each of the subsidiary companies for the financial year

Mojarkesh and Richard Mhlontlo was appointed as members of the

ended 29 February 2016.

committee on 31 July 2016. Another independent director is being
sought to chair the audit and risk committee.

Due to the company not approving and issuing its annual financial
statements within six months after year-end, PKF (VGA) Chartered

The chief executive officer, financial director and the external
auditors attend all committee meetings by invitation.

Accountants issued a reportable irregularity under the Auditing
Profession Act in terms of non-compliance with section 30(1) of the
Companies Act, 2008 as amended. Subsequently, the annual

During the period under review, the following meetings were held
and the attendance of the meetings was as follows:

annual report on 20 September 2016.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND INTERNAL AUDIT

29 April
2015

21 May
2015

Mpho Mokgatlhe

9

9

9

9

Charles Mostert

9

9

9

9

on an annual basis. The executive directors are actively involved in the

Mike Rogers

9

9

9

8

management of the company and thereby co-ensure the effective

Willie Thabe

9

9

n/a

n/a

Member

19 November 9 February
2015
2016

financial statements were approved together with the integrated

During the year, the committee reviewed the use of internal auditors
and decided that no internal audit function was necessary due to the
size and phase of development of the company. This will be reviewed

governance, risk management and internal control of the company.

8 Absent with apology.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES
The committee’s roles and responsibilities include its statutory duties
as defined in the Companies Act and the responsibilities assigned to
it by the board. The committee reports to both the board and
shareholders.

During the year, the committee
 confirmed, based on management’s review that the interim and
annual financial statements were drawn up on the going concern
basis;
 examined the published interim and annual financial statements
and other financial information, prior to the board’s approval;
 considered the accounting treatment of significant or unusual
transactions and accounting judgements by management;
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 considered the appropriateness of accounting policies and any

and found them to be sound; and
 received a limited assurance report of management’s assessment

changes made;
 reviewed the audit report on the annual financial statements;

of the effectiveness of the group’s system of internal control over

 reviewed the representation letter relating to the annual financial

financial reporting.

statements signed by management;
 considered any problems identified as well as any legal and tax
matters that could materially affect the financial statements;
 met separately with management, the external auditor and internal

SUSTAINABILITY
During the year under review, the committee:
 reviewed the social and ethics committee report included in the

auditor; and
 concluded that the annual financial statements fairly present the
financial position of the group and company at the end of the financial
year and the results of operations and cash flow for the financial year.
Having reviewed the audited annual financial statements of the
group, which are electronically available on the group’s website at
www.mediamonds.co.za, particularly to ensure that disclosure was

group’s integrated annual report and satisfied itself that it is
consistent with the annual financial statements; and
 considered the desirability of obtaining external assurance
regarding the sustainability review and recommended to the board
that it would serve no useful purpose in view of the developing
nature of the group’s sustainability information systems.

adequate and that fair presentation had been achieved, the
committee has recommended the approval of the annual financial

SELF-EVALUATION

statements to the board.

The company secretary conducted a self-evaluation exercise of the
committee’s performance, mix of skills and individual contributions

FINANCIAL DIRECTOR AND FINANCE FUNCTION

of members, its achievements in terms of its mandate from the

As required by the JSE Listings Requirements 3.84(h), the committee

board. The results were reviewed by the committee, which was

has:

satisfied that the committee executed all its statutory functions.

 considered the experience and expertise of the part-time financial
director, Eshaan Singh, and concluded that these were satisfactory

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

for the period under review;
 considered the expertise, resources and experience of the finance
function and concluded that these were satisfactory; and
 ensured that the new financial director has the necessary

There have been no material changes in the affairs or financial
position of the company and its subsidiaries since the end of the
period under review.

qualifications and appropriate financial experience.

ELECTION OF COMMITTEE AT ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
LEGAL, REGULATORY AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
REQUIREMENTS

Pursuant to the provisions of section 94(2) of the Companies Act,

During the year under review, the committee:

at each annual general meeting, it is proposed in the notice of annual

 reviewed with management all legal matters that could have a

general meeting to be held on 11 November 2016 that Mohammed

material impact on the group;
 considered reports provided by management and the external
auditor

regarding

compliance

with

legal

and

regulatory

requirements; and

which requires that a public company must elect an audit committee

Bassam Al Mojarkesh and Richard Mhlontlo be reappointed as
members of the audit and risk committee until the next annual
general meeting in 2017.

 will review the report by the JSE regarding the reporting back
of proactive monitoring of financial statements in 2015 (dated
11 February 2016) at the next committee meeting.

RECOMMENDATION OF THE INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT
FOR APPROVAL BY THE BOARD
The committee recommended the integrated annual report for

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

approval by the board on 20 September 2016.

During the year under review, the committee:
 reviewed and approved the group’s risk management plan
defining MEDR’s risk management methodology;
 reviewed quarterly risk reports containing pertinent risks and
opportunities aligned to the group’s vision and mission, emerging

Richard Mhlontlo

events and reportable incidents;

(Acting) Audit and risk committee chairman

 reviewed the group’s policies on the risk assessment and risk
management, including fraud risks and information technology
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20 September 2016

Remuneration and nominations committee report

The committee operates under formal terms of reference in terms of

POLICY ON DIRECTORS’ FEES AND REMUNERATION

which it is required to meet at least twice a year in order to fulfil the

Non-executive directors

functions assigned to it.

In line with section 66(9) of the Companies Act, the following
proposed remuneration of non-executive directors will be presented

This report, which describes how the committee has discharged its

to shareholders for approval at the annual general meeting to be held

responsibilities in respect of the financial year ended 29 February

on 11 November 2016:

2016, will be presented to the shareholders at the annual general
meeting to be held on 11 November 2016.

Category

Recommended remuneration

During the period under review, the following meetings were held

Board member

R45 000 annual retainer

and the attendance of the meetings was as follows:

Board chairman

R15 000 per meeting attended

Board member

R10 000 per meeting attended

Member

29 April

31 July

2015

2015

9 February
2016

23 February
2016

Charles Mostert
(chairman)

9

9

9

9

Mpho Mokgatlhe

9

9

8

9

Mike Rogers

9

9

9

9

Willie Thabe

9

n/a

n/a

n/a

Audit and risk committee
Chairman

R8 000 per meeting attended

Member

R6 000 per meeting attended

Remuneration and nominations committee
Chairman

R4 500 per meeting attended

Member

R3 500 per meeting attended

Social and ethics committee

REMUNERATION AND NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE MEMBERS

Chairman

R1 000 per meeting attended

Member

R500 per meeting attended

During the reporting period, the committee consisted of three nonexecutive directors, all of whom were independent. The members
comprised Charles Mostert (chairman), Mike Rogers and Mpho
Mokgatlhe. During the reporting period, Willie Thabe resigned as a

Executive directors
Executive directors have accepted a reduced salary in order to
preserve cash until funds are available.

director and chairman of the committee effective 16 July 2015.
Charles Mostert was then appointed as chairman of the committee.

Directors’ services contracts

The chief executive officer attends meetings by invitation.

James Allan has agreed in writing that he will not terminate his
employment for a period of five years, other than with agreement

Subsequent to year-end and part of the restructuring of the board,
Richard Mhlontlo (chairman), Said Tinawi, Mohammed Bassam Al
Mojarkesh and Abdulla Khalfan Humaid Nasser were appointed as

with the board, commencing on 23 July 2012. James Allan has also
agreed to be bound by a 24 month restraint-of-trade agreement
commencing from the date on which his employment terminates.

members of the committee effective 31 July 2016. They replaced
Charles Mostert, Mike Rogers and Mpho Mokgatlhe who resigned as

Remuneration of the directors appears on page 76 of the integrated

directors and members of the committee on 29 July 2016. A third

annual report.

independent non-executive director will still be appointed to the
committee.
The chairman of the board is not eligible for appointment as
chairman of the committee, but presides as chairman when the
committee fulfils its oversight responsibilities on nomination matters
and board/director interactions.
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SABLE PLATINUM PERFORMANCE SHARE RIGHTS SCHEME

EVALUATION OF THE COMMITTEE

In light of the specific issue and the scheme set out in the circular to

The company secretary conducted a self-evaluation exercise of the

shareholders dated 21 December 2015, the following rights in

committee’s performance, mix of skills and individual contributions

respect of the shares which have now vested and the following

of members, and its achievements in terms of its mandate from the

shares were issued to the following participants:

board. The results were reviewed by the committee, which was
satisfied with the overall assessment and execution of its

Name

Number of rights to shares

James Allan

3 847 845

René Hochreiter

1 683 432

David Levithan

1 683 432

responsibilities during the reporting period.

Richard Mhlontlo
For more details please refer to note 10 on pages 65 and 66 of the

Remuneration and nominations committee chairman

financial statements.
20 September 2016
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Social and ethics committee report

The committee operates under formal terms of reference in terms of

ETHICS

which it is required to meet at least twice a year in order to fulfil the

The code of ethics and business conduct, which embodies our key

functions assigned to it in terms of the Companies Regulations, and

principles and values, was reviewed during the year and confirmed

such other functions as were assigned to it by the board from time

to be relevant and effective.

to time in order to assist the board in ensuring that the group remains
a responsible corporate citizen.

LABOUR
This report, which describes how the committee has discharged its

Our employment equity policies embody our commitment to

responsibilities in respect of the financial year ended 29 February

implementing employment equity across the group, whilst the

2016, will be presented to the shareholders at the annual general

company is committed to compliance with the South African Broad-

meeting to be held on 11 November 2016.

Based Black Economic Empowerment Act.

During the period under review, the following meetings were held

Skills development remains an area of focus and will receive

and the attendance of the meetings was as follows:

attention once the operations of the company are at full capacity
again.

Members

29 April
2015

9 February
2016

EVALUATION OF COMMITTEE PERFORMANCE
n/a

9

An evaluation of the performance of the committee was carried out

James Allan

9

9

and the evaluations recognised that due to the amount of corporate

René Hochreiter

9

9

actions during the reporting period as well as a lack in operations,

Willie Thabe

9

n/a

that the progress made was sufficient for the current state of the

Charles Mostert

company.
n/a Not yet appointed or have resigned.

SUSTAINABILITY
SOCIAL AND ETHICS COMMITTEE MEMBERS

MEDR adheres to environmental and sustainability principles as set

During the reporting period, the committee comprised three directors,

out in the Minerals and Petroleum Resources Development Act,

being Charles Mostert (independent chairman), James Allan and

28 of 2002 (“MPRDA”). In the prospecting phase, borehole and drill

Mike Rogers. Willie Thabe resigned as a director and chairman of the

site rehabilitation was carried out during 2015.

committee and Charles Mostert was appointed as chairman of the
committee effective 16 July 2015. Following the resignation of René
Hochreiter as director of the company and member of the committee,

SUSTAINABILITY AND CORPORATE SOCIAL AWARENESS

Mike Rogers was appointed as a member of the committee effective

The group is fully committed to sustainability and corporate social

7 March 2016.

awareness. We are cognisant of the fact that the growth and success
of the company is dependent on the ability to continue to deliver

After year-end, Charles Mostert and Mike Rogers resigned as

value to our stakeholders. Sustainability can only be achieved

members of the committee and Richard Mhlontlo (chairman) and

through paying greater attention to the world in which we operate.

Said Tinawi were appointed as members of the committee.

This is evident in the decision to again print the 2016 integrated
annual report on CDs and not in hard copy format. In addition to this,

RESPONSIBILITIES
The objectives and responsibilities of the committee, which are

reports for internal purposes are printed in booklet format to save
paper and the directors of the company fly only economy class
(domestic and international) to save costs for the company.

aligned with the committee’s statutory functions as set out in the
Companies Act, form the basis of an annual work plan.

The group continuously seeks new ways in which the environment
can benefit from efficient and effective allocation of resources.

The objectives that support MEDR’s sustainability policy include the
promotion of environmental health and public safety and good
corporate citizenship, including the promotion of equality, the
prevention of unfair discrimination and the reduction of corruption.
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Social and ethics committee report (continued)

SAFETY, HEALTH AND THE ENVIRONMENT

on hold (RDP 001 and BSB 001) are periodically visited by staff, to

There were no accidents or incidents during the reporting period.

ensure environmental and safety compliance. These two drilling sites
would be formally rehabilitated as soon as drilling resumes to remove

Since inception in 2010, MEDR has an accumulative Lost Time Injury

the rods.

Frequency Rate of 3.14. (LTIFR = number of injuries * 200 000 hours/
total hours worked).

Bateleur Environmental and to a minor extent, Digby Wells, are also
involved with the compilation of environmental compliance reports

To date MEDR recorded on its exploration sites 127 554 accumulative

and also involved with “interested and affected party” consultations.

man hours worked, of which 69 998 hours were contributed by
drilling contractors in the past. All site-related safety appointments
are still in place and valid.
Richard Mhlontlo

ENVIRONMENTAL

Social and ethics committee chairman

Bateleur Environmental & Monitoring Services CC is still responsible
for external site rehabilitation checks, whilst the two remaining sites
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Annual financial statements

Level of assurance:
These financial statements have

The reports and statements set out below comprise the group annual
financial statements presented to the shareholders:

been audited in compliance with the
applicable requirements of the
Companies Act (Act 71 of 2008)

34

Directors’ responsibility and approval

35

Declaration by the company secretary

36

Independent auditor’s report

38

Directors’ report

42

Statement of financial position

43

Statement of comprehensive income

44

Statement of changes in equity

45

Statement of cash flows
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Accounting policies

59

Notes to the group financial statements

of South Africa.

Preparer:
The financial statements were
independently compiled by
M du Plessis CA(SA) under
supervision of the interim
financial director.

Published:
30 September 2016
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Directors’ responsibilities and approval

The directors are required in terms of the Companies Act 71 of

The directors are of the opinion, based on the information and

2008, as amended, to maintain adequate accounting records and

explanations given by management, that the system of internal

are responsible for the content and integrity of the annual financial

control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may

statements and related financial information included in this report.

be relied on for the preparation of the annual financial statements.

It is their responsibility to ensure that the annual financial

However, any system of internal financial control can provide only

statements fairly present the state of affairs of the group as at the

reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material

end of the financial year and the results of its operations and cash

misstatement or loss.

flows for the period then ended, in conformity with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). The external auditors are

The directors have reviewed the group’s cash flow forecast for the

engaged to express an independent opinion on the annual

year-end 28 February 2017 and, in light of this review and the current

financial statements.

financial position, they are satisfied that, subject to funding
commitments given by the Middle Eastern investors, the group has

The annual financial statements was prepared under the supervision

access to adequate resources to continue in operational existence for

of the interim financial director and are prepared in accordance with

the foreseeable future. Refer to the directors’ report for further detail.

IFRS and are based upon appropriate accounting policies consistently
applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and
estimates.

The external auditors are responsible for the independently auditing
and reporting on the group’s annual financial statements. The annual
financial statements have been examined by the group’s external

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the
system of internal financial control established by the group and place
considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment.
To enable the directors to meet these responsibilities, the board of
directors sets standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk
of error or loss in a cost-effective manner. The standards include the

auditors and their report is presented on pages 36 and 37.
The annual financial statements set out on pages 34 to 81, which
have been prepared on the going concern basis, were approved by
the board of directors on 20 September 2016 and were signed on its
behalf by:

proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework,
effective accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties
to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored
throughout the group and all employees are required to maintain the
highest ethical standards in ensuring the group’s business is conducted
in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach.

James Allan
Chief executive officer

The focus of risk management in the group is on identifying, assessing,
managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the group.
While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the group endeavours
to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls,
systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within

Abdulla Khalfan Humaid Nasser

predetermined procedures and constraints.

Chairman

34
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Declaration by the company secretary

DECLARATION BY THE COMPANY SECRETARY IN RESPECT OF SECTION 88(2)(E) OF THE COMPANIES ACT PRESENTED TO THE
SHAREHOLDERS
In terms of section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act 71 of 2008, as amended, I certify that the group has lodged with the Commissioner all such
returns as are required of a public company in terms of the Companies Act and that all such returns are true, correct and up to date.

Juba Statutory Services Proprietary Limited
Sirkien van Schalkwyk
Company secretary
20 September 2016
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Independent auditor’s report

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF MIDDLE EAST DIAMOND RESOURCES LIMITED
We were engaged to audit the consolidated and separate financial

The due diligence of Kamfersdam was not completed at year-end

statements of Middle East Diamond Resources Limited and its

and no supporting documentation could be obtained to substantiate

subsidiaries set out on pages 34 to 81, which comprise the

the projected sales forecast expected from mining the dumps.

statement of financial position as at 29 February 2016, and the
statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity

The prospecting rights registered under Fast Pace Invest Proprietary

and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes,

Limited expired during the year under review. The group has two

comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other

prospecting rights registered for various portions to farms in

explanatory information.

Gauteng. The one prospecting rights expires on 3 December 2016
and the other right expires on 29 April 2017. Thereafter, the group
has no registered mining or prospecting rights from which to

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

generate revenue.

The company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair

The group has applied for various prospecting rights (NW

presentation of these consolidated and separate financial statements

30/5/1/1/3/2/1/11227PR, LP 30/5/1/1/2/11000PR, LP 30/5/1/1/2/11032

in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

PR,

(“IFRS”) and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa,

30/5/1/1/2/603PR and NW 30/5/1/1/2/11270PR) as well as the

and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary

renewal of prospecting right NW 30/5/1/1/2/1385PR.

LP

30/5/1/1/2/11011PR,

LP

30/5/1/1/2/10434PR,

LP

to enable the preparation of consolidated and separate financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to

The application process with the Department of Mineral Resources

fraud or error.

(“DMR”) is a lengthy process and uncertainty exists whether the
rights will be granted or renewed.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Consequently, we were unable to confirm or dispel whether it is

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated and

appropriate to prepare the consolidated and separate financial

separate financial statements based on conducting the audit in

statements using the going concern basis of accounting.

accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Because of the
matter described in the Basis for disclaimer of opinion paragraph,
however, we were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion.

Because of the significance of the matter described in the basis for
disclaimer of opinion paragraph, we have not been able to obtain
sufficient audit evidence to provide a basis for an opinion. Accordingly

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

we do not express an opinion on the consolidated and separate

The group has a cash burn of approximately R450 000 per month

financial statements.

with no revenue being generated. A letter of commitment was signed
subsequent to year-end whereby the majority shareholder confirms
administration costs. However, regular payments have not been

OTHER REPORTS REQUIRED BY THE
COMPANIES ACT

made by the majority shareholder as agreed upon.

As part of our audit of the consolidated and separate financial

to inject an amount of R450 000 per month to cover the general and

statements for the year ended 29 February 2016, we have read the
Middle East Diamond Resources Limited took the following steps to

directors’ report, the audit committee’s report and the company

mitigate the going concern risk:

secretary’s certificate for the purpose of identifying whether there are

 Implementation of an approved scheme of arrangement to divest

material inconsistencies between these reports and the audited

itself of all historical liabilities;

consolidated and separate financial statements. These reports are

 The specific issue of 200 000 000 shares for cash; and

the responsibility of the respective preparers. Based on reading

 Entered into an agreement with Blain Capital Solutions Proprietary

these reports we have not identified material inconsistencies

Limited to acquire the Kamfersdam dumps and equipment in

between these reports and the audited consolidated and separate

Kimberley.

financial statements. However, we have not audited these reports
and accordingly do not express an opinion on these reports.

36
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REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
In accordance with our responsibilities in terms of sections 44(2) and
44(3) of the Auditing Profession Act, we have identified the following
unlawful acts or omissions described below, committed by persons
responsible for the management of Middle East Diamond Resources
Limited and its subsidiaries which constitute reportable irregularities
in terms of the Auditing Profession Act, and have reported such
matters to the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors.
Section 30(1) of the Companies Act states that a company should
within six months after year-end, have its financial statements
audited and prepared in an appropriate manner to provide notice of
an annual general meeting in terms of section 61(7).
The financial statements of Middle East Diamond Resources Limited
and its subsidiaries have not been issued within six months after the
year ending on 29 February 2016.
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette Number
39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report that PKF (VGA) Chartered
Accountants has been the auditor of Middle East Diamond Resources
Limited and its subsidiaries for one year.

PKF (VGA) Chartered Accountants
Registered Auditors
Partner: H Nieuwoudt
Registered Auditor
20 September 2016
Johannesburg
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Directors’ report

The directors have pleasure in submitting their report on the group

The company and SPH will effectively be transferring all their

annual financial statements for the year ended 29 February 2016.

liabilities and obligations to SPM, and the shares of SPM will be
unbundled to the shareholders of the company in certificated

1. NATURE OF BUSINESS
Middle East Diamond Resources Limited (“MEDR”, “the group”

form. Shareholders will therefore retain their shares in the
company and receive the same number of certificated shares in
the unlisted SPM.

or “the company”) was incorporated in South Africa with
interests in the mining industry. The activities of the group are

Full details of the financial position, results of operations and

undertaken through the company and its principal subsidiaries.

cash flows of the group and company are set out in these

The group operates in South Africa.

consolidated annual financial statements and require no further
commentary.

The group’s primary business objective is the exploration,
evaluation and development of several exploration projects,
situated mainly on the western limb of the Bushveld Complex

3. SHARE CAPITAL

(“BC”). During the year Broken Land Adventures Proprietary

Directors were issued with a general authority to be able to

Limited (“BLA”), through the subscription of shares, became

issue shares not exceeding 34 186 771 shares as at the annual

the majority shareholder. BLA would like MEDR to make

general meeting that was held on 16 July 2015.

acquisitions in the diamond mining sector and various projects
have been explored.

The following approvals were granted to the board of directors
at the extraordinary general meeting held on 25 January 2016:
 the issue of 200 000 000 shares at an issue price of 4 cents

2. REVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS AND ACTIVITIES
The consolidated and company annual financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and the requirements of the
Companies Act 71 of 2008 as amended. The accounting policies
have been applied consistently compared to the prior year.

which yielded a gross amount of R8 000 000 before the
capitalisation of professional costs (“the specific issue”);
 the release of 41 648 396 shares held in escrow by Java
Capital Trustees and Sponsors Proprietary Limited;
 immediate vesting of 7 214 709 share rights which has
triggered a full release of the share-based payment reserve
amount to share capital.

The company has also proceeded with a restructuring which
entails the following:

There were no changes in the authorised share capital for the

 completing the liquidation process of Corpcapital Investments

period under review.

Proprietary Limited, Withdrawn Limited and Corpcapital
Investments 2 Proprietary Limited;
 the releasing of company shares held in escrow by Java

Refer to note 9 of the annual financial statements for the detail
of the movement authorised and issued share capital.

Capital Trustees and Sponsors Proprietary Limited; and
 the early vesting of share rights granted to directors.
At the extraordinary general meeting of 25 January 2016
shareholders approved a scheme of arrangement that had the
following objectives:
 for the company to divest itself of all its liabilities and
obligations;
 for its subsidiary, Sable Platinum Holdings Proprietary Limited
(“SPH”) to divest itself of all its liabilities and obligations;
 for its subsidiary, SPH to acquire Sable Platinum Mining

4. DIVIDENDS
Given the current state of the South African economy and its
mining industry together with the fact that the restructured group
is refocusing its strategy, the board of directors believes it would
be more appropriate for the group to conserve cash and maintain
adequate debt headroom to ensure that the group is best placed
to withstand any prolonged adverse economic conditions.
Therefore the board of directors has resolved not to declare a
dividend for the financial year ended 29 February 2016.

Limited (“SPM”) shares in the retained companies;
 for SPM to repurchase its shares issued to SPH effectively
divesting itself from the group;
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5. SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME
In terms of paragraph 1.9 of the Sable Platinum Performance

 for the issue of certificated shares in SPM to all shareholders

Rights Scheme, rights to shares would vest in the event that the

of Sable (with the exception of BLA) pro rata to their

company is taken over, delisted or become the subject of a

shareholdings in the company.

merger. There will be a change of control as a result of the
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specific issue and scheme of arrangement. The remuneration

As a result of the immediate vesting of the share rights, an IFRS 2

and nominations committee has determined the numbers of

share-based payment charge has been raised in the statement of

rights that would vest. The shareholders were requested to

comprehensive income of R2 045 178 for the remaining period of

amend the rights scheme.

the rights. With the full charge being recognised the amount
recorded in the share-based payment reserve of R3 823 796 has

A special resolution was approved at the extraordinary general

been transferred to share capital as the transaction has now been

meeting of 25 January 2016 ratifying the amendment and the

settled and shares have been issued.

7 214 709 rights have vested. The details of the rights are as
Refer to note 10 of the annual financial statements for the detail

follows:

of the movement in the share-based payment reserve and

Name

Number
of rights
to shares

James Allan

3 847 845

Rene Hochreiter

1 683 432

David Levithan

1 683 432

details of the Performance Right Scheme.

7 214 709

6. DIRECTORATE
The directors in office at the date of this report are as follow:
Directors

Office

Designation

Changes

Abdulla Khalfan Humaid Nasser#

Chairman

Non-executive

Appointed 29 February 2016

James Allan

Chief executive officer

Executive

Afzal Ahmed Jagot#

Financial director

Executive

Appointed 29 July 2016

Richard Mhlontlo#

Lead independent

Independent non-executive

Appointed 29 July 2016

#

Mohammed Bassam Al Mojarkesh

Independent non-executive

Appointed 29 July 2016

Said Tinawi#

Non-executive

Appointed 29 February 2016
Appointed 31 August 2015

Eshaan Singh

Interim financial director

Executive (interim)

Mike Rogers

Lead independent

Independent non-executive

Resigned 29 July 2016

Charles Mostert

Independent non-executive

Resigned 29 July 2016

Mpho Mokgatlhe

Independent non-executive

Resigned 29 July 2016

René Hochreiter

Non-executive

Resigned 7 March 2016

Botha Schabort

Non-executive

Resigned 31 August 2015

Resigned 29 July 2016

Willie Thabe

Non-executive

Resigned 16 July 2015

David Levithan

Non-executive

Resigned 20 September 2016

# Directors have not yet registered at the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission (“CIPC”).

All directors are South African except for Nasser who is a UAE resident and Tinawi and Bassam Al Mojarkesh who are Saudi Arabian
residents.
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Directors’ report (continued)

7. DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

11. GOING CONCERN

At the date of the report the company had indebtedness of

The group and company continued to incur losses in the current

R2 692 489 due to SPM for outstanding payments due in terms

year. The annual financial statements will be prepared on the

of the scheme of arrangement and the reimbursement of

basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. This

running costs. Both James Allan and Charles Mostert are

basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future

directors and shareholders of SPM.

operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of
liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments, will occur in
the ordinary course of business.

8. BORROWING POWERS
The directors of the company have unlimited borrowings in

MEDR is an exploration company not yet in a cash generating

terms of the memorandum of incorporation.

position which is obliged to fund exploration by equity. The
group is currently exploring options available to it to enable it to
raise further capital in order to continue its exploration

9. SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS

programme and to cover all general and administration costs.

The following special resolutions were passed for the reporting

The group’s future prospects and stability rely on its ability to

period:

raise further capital for the ensuing year.

 Approval of non-executive directors’ fees, in terms of section
66(9) of the Companies Act as amended for the period from

At 29 February 2016 the company and the group had negative

the 2015 annual general meeting to the one to be held in

equity attributable to owners of the parent of R1 000 000 and

2016;

R1 731 354 respectively. The company incurred a net loss of

 To provide direct and indirect financial assistance to related

R63 153 190 (2015: R95 370 023) and the group a net loss of

and inter-related companies, as per section 45 of the

R582 896 (2015: R15 337 277) for the year ended and, as at that

Companies Act as amended;

date, the group’s total liabilities, fairly valued, exceeded its total

 Approval for the specific issue of 200 000 000 shares in terms

assets by R2 069 312.

of section 41(3) of the Companies Act;
 To provide financial assistance in respect of the specific issue
of shares in terms of section 44(3) of the Companies Act to
Broken Land Adventures Proprietary Limited (“BLA”) by
making certain representations and giving certain warranties
to BLA;
 Approval of vesting of 7 214 708 share rights;
 Approval of the scheme of arrangement in terms of section 115
of the Companies Act as amended;
 Approval of the disposal to Lemur Resources Limited of the
Project Companies shares held by SPM; and
 Approval of the change of name to Middle East Diamond
Resources Limited.

The group has a cash burn of approximately R450 000 per
month and has been successful in reducing this from about
R1 million per month last year at the time of the previous report.
In mitigation of the growing going concern, the company has
done the following:
 implementation of the approved scheme of arrangement in
terms of section 115 of the Companies Act, where the group
has divested itself from all historical liabilities;
 the specific issue of the 200 000 000 shares for cash;
 BLA, as majority shareholders, has indicated that MEDR is
required to make acquisitions in the diamond mining sector
and various projects had been explored. Subsequent to yearend, MEDR has acquired the operations of Kamfersdam from

10. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
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Blain Capital Solutions Proprietary Limited (“Blain Capital”)
for a consideration of R14 million, payable by the issue of

The directors are not aware of any material subsequent events

40 000 000 shares at a price of 35 cents each. These shares

as at the date of the report, other than discussed under the

will be issued every six months in four equal tranches of

going concern paragraph.

10 000 000 shares each provided the profit before tax for

MEDR Integrated annual report 2016

each six-month period is at least R3,45 million. This operation
will be managed by Blain Capital during this two-year period.

14. RESTATEMENT
The JSE advised the company that they had reviewed the 2015
annual financial statements (“AFS”) as part of an ongoing

The group is currently in discussions with the majority

proactive monitoring review process and disagreed with the

shareholders to inject further cash into the group to cover

board’s judgmental decision on the classification of Familia

general and administration costs. Further issue of shares during

Asset Managers Proprietary Limited as a subscription for shares

the next reporting period is also under review.

as equity.

These measures are taken in anticipation of exploration projects

Management agreed to include this re-statement as per IAS 8 in

being evaluated.

the interim results for the six months ended 31 August 2015 and
the reviewed provisional results for the year ended 29 February

In the event that no further capital is raised or no further funding

2016.

is received and the Blain Capital project does not materialise,
the group will cease to be a going concern.

IAS 8 requires the presentation of a third statement of financial
position where there has been a restatement from the correction
of an error. However, the retrospective restatement only has

12. AUDITORS
PKF (VGA) Chartered Accountants has been appointed as
auditors for the company and its subsidiaries for 2016.

financial effect on the prior financial period ended 28 February
2015 and has no effect on the financial position at the beginning
of the preceding period.

At the AGM, the shareholders will be required to reappoint
PKF (VGA) Chartered Accountants as the independent external
auditors of the company and to confirm Herman Nieuwoudt as
the designated partner for the 2017 financial year.

13. COMPANY SECRETARY
The company secretary is Juba Statutory Services Proprietary
Limited.
Postal address

No third statement of financial position has thus been presented.
Refer to note 28 to the annual financial statements for detail on
the financial effects.

15. COMPARATIVES
Comparative figures are reclassified or restated as necessary to
afford a proper and more meaningful comparison of results as

PO Box 4896

set out in the affected notes to the financial statements.

Rietvalleirand
0174
Business address

No 1 Carlsberg
430 Nieuwenhuyzen Street
Erasmuskloof Extention 2
0181
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Statements of financial position
as at 29 February 2016

GROUP

Figures in Rands

Notes

2016

COMPANY
2015
(Restated)

2016

2015
(Restated)

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Plant and equipment

3

–

238 993

–

Intangible assets

4

–

1 200 000

–

–
–

Investments in subsidiaries

5

–

–

–

46 865 696

Financial assets

6

403 295

687 033

–

15 663 703

403 295

2 126 026

–

62 529 399

Current assets
Trade and other receivables

7

212 915

251 681

–

–

Cash and cash equivalents

8

400 916

33 198

–

–

613 831

284 879

–

–

1 017 126

2 410 905

–

62 529 399

9

99 468 435

87 889 857

317 605 140

306 026 563

10

–

1 778 618

–

1 778 618

(101 199 790)

(100 928 894)

(318 605 141)

(255 451 951)

(1 731 354)

(11 260 419)

(1 000 000)

52 353 230

(337 958)

(88 578)

–

–

(2 069 312)

(11 348 997)

(1 000 000)

52 353 230

Total assets
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves
Share capital
Other reserves
Accumulated loss
Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests
Total equity
Non-current liabilities
Financial liabilities

11

–

7 643 618

–

6 295 056

Deferred present value adjustment

12

–

3 704 944

–

3 704 944

–

11 348 562

–

10 000 000

Current liabilities
Financial liabilities

11

–

967 089

–

–

Trade and other payables

13

3 086 438

1 444 251

1 000 000

176 169

3 086 438

2 411 340

1 000 000

176 169

Total liabilities

3 086 438

13 759 902

1 000 000

10 176 169

Total equity and liabilities

1 017 126

2 410 905

–

62 529 399
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Statements of comprehensive income
for the year ended 29 February 2016

GROUP

Figures in Rands

COMPANY

Notes

2016

2015
(Restated)

2016

2015
(Restated)

18

7 523 397

2 092 182

4 176 169

41 231 264

(8 343 403)

(4 889 592)

(67 329 359)

(136 601 287)

Continuing operations
Other income
Operating expenses
Operating loss

19

(820 007)

(2 797 410)

(63 153 190)

(95 370 023)

Finance income

20

1 381 080

402 750

1 381 080

402 750

Finance costs

21

(1 475 494)

(516 873)

(1 381 080)

(402 750)

(914 421)

(2 911 533)

(63 153 190)

(95 370 023)

–

–

–

–

(914 421)

(2 911 533)

(63 153 190)

(95 370 023)

331 525

(12 425 744)

–

–

(582 896)

(15 337 277)

(63 153 190)

(95 370 023)

–

–

–

–

(582 896)

(15 337 277)

(63 153 190)

(95 370 023)

Owners of the parent

(270 896)

(15 336 554)

Non-controlling interest

(312 000)

(723)

(582 896)

(15 337 277)

(0,24)

(7,43)

From continuing operations (cents)

(0,37)

(1,41)

From discontinued operations (cents)

0,13

(6,02)

Diluted loss per share (cents)

(0,24)

(7,43)

From continuing operations (cents)

(0,37)

(1,41)

From discontinued operations (cents)

0,13

(6,02)

(5,52)

(7,43)

Loss before income tax
Income tax
Loss for the year from continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Profit/(loss) for the year from discontinued operations

17

Loss for the year
Other comprehensive income for the year
Total comprehensive loss for the year
Total comprehensive loss attributable to:

Loss per share (cents)

Headline loss per share

30

30

From continuing operations (cents)

(3,21)

(1,41)

From discontinued operations (cents)

(2,31)

(6,02)

Diluted headline loss per share

(5,52)

(7,43)

From continuing operations (cents)

(3,21)

(1,41)

From discontinued operations (cents)

(2,31)

(6,02)

MEDR Integrated annual report 2016

43

Group annual
financial statements

Statements of changes in equity
for the year ended 29 February 2016

Attributable to parent

Share
capital

Accumulated
loss

Share-based
payment
reserve

Total

Noncontrolling
Interest

Total
equity

85 747 232

(85 592 340)

–

154 892

(87 855)

67 037

–

(15 336 554)

–

(15 336 554)

(723)

(15 337 277)

12 142 625
–

–

–

12 142 625

–

12 142 625

–

1 778 618

1 778 618

–

1 778 618

Balance at 1 March 2015

97 889 857

(100 928 894)

1 778 618

(1 260 419)

(88 578)

(1 348 997)

Familia loan restatement (note 28)

(10 000 000)

–

–

(10 000 000)

–

(10 000 000)

Balance at 1 March 2015 (restated)

87 889 857

(100 928 894)

1 778 618

(11 260 419)

(88 578)

(11 348 997)

–

(270 896)

–

(270 896)

(312 000)

(582 896)

8 000 000

–

–

8 000 000

–

8 000 000

(245 218)

–

–

(245 218)

–

(245 218)

Share incentive scheme charge

–

–

2 045 178

2 045 178

–

2 045 178

Disposal of subsidiary

–

–

–

–

62 620

62 620

3 823 796

–

(3 823 796)

–

–

–

99 468 435

(101 199 790)

–

(1 731 355)

(337 958)

(2 069 313)

303 883 938

(160 081 928)

–

143 802 010

–

143 802 010

–

(95 370 023)

–

(95 370 023)

–

(95 370 023)

12 142 625

–

–

12 142 625

–

12 142 625

–

–

1 778 618

1 778 618

–

1 778 618

Balance at 1 March 2015

316 026 563

(255 451 951)

1 778 618

62 353 230

–

62 353 230

Familia loan restatement (note 28)

(10 000 000)

–

–

(10 000 000)

–

(10 000 000)

Balance at 1 March 2015 (restated)

306 026 563

(255 451 951)

1 778 618

52 353 230

–

52 353 230

–

(63 153 190)

–

(63 153 190)

–

(63 153 190)

8 000 000

–

–

8 000 000

–

8 000 000

(245 218)

–

–

(245 218)

–

(245 218)

Figures in Rands
GROUP
Balance at 1 March 2014
Total comprehensive loss
Transactions with owners in their
capacity as owners of equity
Subscription for shares
Share incentive scheme charge

Total comprehensive loss
Transactions with owners in their
capacity as owners of equity
Subscription for shares
Capitalised costs on subscription

Transfer from other reserves
Balance at 29 February 2016
COMPANY
Balance at 1 March 2014
Total comprehensive loss
Transactions with owners in their
capacity as owners of equity
Subscription for shares
Share incentive scheme charge

Total comprehensive loss
Transactions with owners in their
capacity as owners of equity
Subscription for shares
Capitalised costs on subscription
Share incentive scheme charge
Transfer from other reserves
Balance at 29 February 2016
Note

44

–

–

2 045 178

2 045 178

–

2 045 178

3 823 796

–

(3 823 796)

–

–

–

317 605 141

(318 605 141)

–

(1 000 000)

–

(1 000 000)

9
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GROUP

Figures in Rands

COMPANY

Notes

2016

2015
(Restated)

2016

2015
(Restated)

23

(8 920 360)

(12 619 551)

–

(269 744)

–

–

–

41 231 264

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated by operations
Dividends received
Finance income

20

Finance costs paid

21

(94 414)

(114 123)

–

–

Income tax paid

14

–

–

–

–

(9 014 774)

(12 733 674)

–

40 961 520

68 082

149 122

–

520 721

(687 781)

–

–

–

Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of subsidiary net of cash disposed of
in subsidiary

17

Proceeds from sale of disposed subsidiary loan account

100 000

–

–

–

Loan advanced from subsidiary

–

–

245 218

(53 634 441)

Loan advanced to subsidiary

–

–

(3 000 000)

Increase in financial assets

–

(123 527)

–

–

(519 699)

25 595

(2 754 782)

(53 113 720)

Net cash utilised in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from shares issued

7 754 782

12 142 625

7 754 782

12 142 625

Payment for cession of liabilities

9

(5 000 000)

–

(5 000 000)

–

Proceeds from financial liabilities

7 397 519

–

–

–

Loan advanced from related parties
Loan repaid to related parties
Loan repaid to director
Net cash from financing activities
Total cash movement for the period
Cash at the beginning of the period
Total cash at the end of the period

8

–

695 000

–

–

(55 000)

–

–

–

(195 111)

(2 362)

–

–

9 902 190

12 835 263

2 754 782

12 142 625

367 718

127 184

–

(9 575)

33 198

(93 986)

–

9 575

400 916

33 198

–

–
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1. PRESENTATION OF ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. These policies have been
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
(a) Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of Middle East Diamond Resources Limited have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee (“IFRS IC”)
applicable to companies reporting under IFRS and JSE Securities Exchange (“JSE”) Listings Requirements. The financial statements
comply with IFRS as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and in the manner required by the Companies
Act, 71 of 2008 as amended.
(b) Historical cost convention
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis.
(c) New and amended standards adopted by the group
The group has applied the following IFRS and amendments effective for the first time for their annual reporting period commencing
1 March 2015:

Effective
date

Impact

 Amendments of definitions

1 July 2014

No impact

IFRS 3 Business combinations

1 July 2014

No impact

1 July 2014

No impact

1 July 2014

No impact

1 July 2014

No impact

1 July 2014

No impact

Title of standard
Annual improvements 2010 – 2012 cycle:
IFRS 2 Share-based payments

 Measurement requirements for all contingent consideration assets and liabilities
IFRS 8 Operating segments
 Amendments to some disclosure requirements regarding the judgements applying the
aggregation criteria.
IFRS 13 – Fair value measurement
 to clarify that it did not intend to remove the ability to measure short-term receivables
and payables at invoice amounts
IAS 24 – Related party disclosures
 include, as a related party, an entity that provides key management personnel services
to the reporting entity or to the parent of the reporting entity
Annual improvements 2011 – 2013 cycle:
IFRS 3 Business combinations
 does not apply to the accounting for the formation of any joint arrangement under
IFRS 11 consideration assets and liabilities
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(d) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for the 29 February 2016
reporting periods and have not been early adopted by the group. The group’s assessment of the impact of these new standards
and interpretations is set out below:

Nature of
change

Effective
date

Impact

 sale or contribution of assets

Amendment

1 January 2016

No impact

 applying the consolidation exemption

Amendment

1 January 2016

No impact

Amendment

1 January 2016

No impact

Amendment

1 January 2016

No impact

Amendment

1 January 2016

No impact

Amendment

1 January 2016

No material

Title of standard
IFRS 10 – Consolidated financial statements and IAS 28 – Investments in
associates and joint ventures

IFRS 11 – Joint arrangements
 acquisition of an interest in a joint operation
Annual improvements 2012 – 2014 cycle:
IFRS 7 – Financial Instruments: Disclosures
 Applicability of the offsetting disclosures to condensed interim
financial statements
IAS 34 – Interim financial reporting
 Disclosure of information elsewhere in the interim financial report
IAS 1 – Presentation of financial statements disclosure initiative
 Guidance on materiality and aggregation, the presentation of
subtotals, the structure of financial statements and the disclosure

impact

of accounting policies
IAS 16 – Property, plant and equipment and IAS 38 – Intangible assets
 depreciation and amortisation

Amendment

1 January 2016

No impact

Amendment

1 January 2016

No material

IAS 1 – Presentation of financial statements disclosure initiative
 Guidance on materiality and aggregation, the presentation of subtotals,
the structure of financial statements and the disclosure of accounting

impact

policies
IAS 16 – Property, plant and equipment and IAS 38 – Intangible assets
 depreciation and amortisation

Amendment

1 January 2016

No impact

Amendment

1 January 2016

No material

IAS 27 – Separate financial statements
 option to use the equity method

impact
IAS 12 – Income taxes
 clarify the requirements for recognising deferred tax assets on
unrealised losses

Amendment

1 January 2017

The group
will review the
effects and
consider
adoption
when
appropriate
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1. PRESENTATION OF ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
(d)

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted (continued)

Title of standard

Nature of
change

Effective
date

Impact

Amendment

1 January 2017

Will impact

IAS 7 – Cash flow statements
 changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

disclosure
IFRS 15 – Revenue from contracts with customers
 Revenue is recognised based on the satisfaction of

New standard

1 January 2018

performance obligations, which occurs when control

The group will
review the

of good or service transfers to a customer

effects and
consider
adoption
when
appropriate

IFRS 9 – Financial instruments (2009 and 2010)
 Financial liabilities
 Derecognition of financial instruments

Update of

1 January 2018

standard

The group will
review the

 Financial assets

effects and

 General hedge accounting

consider
adoption
when
appropriate

IFRS 16 – Leases
 lessees should be required to recognise assets and liabilities arising

New standard

from all leases (with limited exceptions)

1 January 2019

The group will
review the
effects and
consider
adoption
when
appropriate

The amendments apply for annual periods commencing on or after the date note and early adoption is permitted, unless otherwise
indicated.

1.1 Consolidation
The consolidated financial information includes the financial statements of the group and its subsidiaries. All financial results are
consolidated with similar items on a line by line basis.
Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the group has control. The group controls an entity when the
group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.
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1. PRESENTATION OF ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
1.1 Consolidation (continued)
Inter-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated but considered an impairment indicator of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the group.
Disposal of subsidiaries
When the group ceases to have control, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value at the date when control
is lost, with the change in carrying value amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the
purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset.
In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the
group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified as profit or loss.
Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without change of control
Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions – that is,
as transactions with the owners in their capacity as owners. The difference between fair value of any consideration paid and the
relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains and losses on change in
ownership are also recorded in equity.
Transactions which result in changes in ownership levels, where the group has control of the subsidiary both before and after the
transaction are regarded as equity transaction and are recognised directly in the statement of changes in equity by applying
predecessor accounting.

1.2 Investment in subsidiaries
In the company’s separate annual financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less any accumulated
impairment.
The cost of an investment in subsidiary is the aggregate of:
 the fair value, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the
company; plus
 any costs directly attributable to the purchase of the subsidiary.
Any adjustment to the cost of a business combination contingent on future events is included in the cost of the combination if the
adjustment is probable and can be measured reliably.

1.3 Plant and equipment
An item of plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when:
 it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the group; and
 the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
Plant and equipment is initially measured at cost.
Costs include all of the expenditure which is directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of the asset, including the
capitalisation of borrowing costs on qualifying assets.
Plant and equipment is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the group and cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance is charged to the profit and
loss account during the financial period in which they are incurred.
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1. PRESENTATION OF ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
1.3 Plant and equipment (continued)
The depreciation charge for each year is recognised in profit and loss unless it is included in the carrying amount of another asset.
Depreciation on assets is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual values over the estimated
useful lives as follows:

Average
useful life
Furniture and fittings

5 years

Motor vehicles

5 years

Office equipment

5 years

Computer equipment

3 years

Computer software

3 years

Leasehold improvements

5 years

The residual value and useful life of each asset category are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate at the end of each reporting
year. An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within
“Other (losses)/income” in the statement of comprehensive income.
An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its
continued use or disposal.
Exploration and evaluation expenditure
Exploration and evaluation expenditure includes the costs of geographical studies and costs associated with physical geological,
exploration and prospecting work. This expenditure is charged to profit and loss in the statement of comprehensive income.

1.4 Business combinations
The group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations, regardless of whether equity instruments or other
assets are acquired. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises:
 fair value of assets transferred;
 liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired business;
 equity interest issued by the group;
 fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration agreement; and
 fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at fair
value at the acquisition date. The group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis, either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the recognised amounts of acquired identifiable
net assets. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified and recognised separately from the group’s
interest therein, and are recognised within equity.
Losses of subsidiaries attributable to non-controlling interests are allocated to the non-controlling interest even if this results in a
debit balance being recognised for the non-controlling interest. Non-controlling interest are shown separately in the statement of
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of financial position respectively.
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1.4 Business combinations (continued)
Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and represents the excess of the:
 consideration transferred;
 amount of non-controlling interest in the acquired entity;
 equity interest issued by the group; and
 acquisition date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquired entity over the fair value of the net identifiable assets
acquired. If those amounts are less than fair value of the net identifiable assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is
recognised directly in profit and loss as a bargain purchase.
Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as a financial liability are
subsequently remeasured to fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any gains or losses arising from such remeasurement
are recognised in profit or loss.
The profit or loss realised on disposal of an entity is calculated after taking into account the carrying amount of goodwill.

1.5 Intangible assets
An intangible asset is recognised when:
 it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the group; and
 the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses.
An intangible asset is regarded as having an indefinite useful life when, based on all relevant factors, there is no foreseeable limit
to the period over which the asset is expected to generate net cash inflows.
Reassessing the useful life of an intangible asset with a finite useful life after it was classified as indefinite is an indicator that the asset
may be impaired. As a result the asset is tested for impairment and the remaining carrying amount is amortised over its useful life.
Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible assets, on a straight line basis, to their residual values as follows:
Average useful life
Prospecting rights

Over the useful life of the mine when mining commences

1.6 Impairment of non-financial assets
Non-financial assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment, or
more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired.
Non-financial assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.
For the purpose of assessing impairment, non-financial assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable
cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash flows from other assets or group of assets (cash-generating units (“CGU”)).
Non-financial assets that suffered an impairment charge are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each
reporting period.
Non-financial assets impairment reviews are undertaken annually. The carrying value is compared to the recoverable amount,
which is the higher of value in use and the fair value less costs to sell. Any impairment is recognised immediately as an expense
and is not subsequently reversed.
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1. PRESENTATION OF ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
1.7 Financial assets
(a)

Classification
The group classifies its financial assets in the following categories:
 loans and receivables.
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the end of the reporting
period. These are classified as non-current assets.
The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. Management determines the
classification of its financial assets at initial recognition. See note 15 for details about each type of financial asset.

(b)

Recognition and derecognition
Financial assets are recognised on transaction date when the group becomes a party to the contract and thus obtain rights
to receive economic benefits. Financial assets are derecognised when the right to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired or have been transferred and the group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

(c)

Measurement
Financial assets are stated initially on transaction date at its fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition of the asset. Loans and receivables are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less provision for impairment.

(d)

Impairment
The group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group
of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred
only if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition
of the asset (a loss event) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.
Evidence of the impairment may include indications that the debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing significant
financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation, and where observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated
future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.
Assets carried at amortised cost
For loans and receivables category, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred)
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced and the
amount of the loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the reversal of
the previously recognised impairment loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

1.8 Financial liabilities
(a)

Classification
The group classifies its financial liabilities in the following categories:
 other financial liabilities and trade and other payables.
Refer to note 16 for details about each type of financial liability.
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1.8

Financial liabilities (continued)
(b)

Recognition and derecognition
Financial liabilities are recognised on transaction date when the group becomes a party to the contract and thus has a
contractual obligation. Financial liabilities are derecognised when these contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled
or expired.

(c)

Measurement
Financial liabilities are stated initially on transaction date at its fair value including transaction costs directly attributable to
the transaction. Financial liabilities are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

(d)

Offsetting of financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

1.9

Trade receivables
Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary course of
business. If collection is expected in one year or less, they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as noncurrent assets.
Trade and receivables are classified as loans and receivables.

1.10 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand.
Cash and cash equivalents are stated at carrying amount which is deemed to be fair value.

1.11 Cash restricted for use
Cash which is subject to restrictions on its use is stated separately at carrying amount in the statement of financial position.

1.12 Share capital and equity
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
If the company reacquires its own equity instruments, the consideration paid, including any directly attributable incremental costs
(net of income taxes) on those instruments are deducted from equity attributable to the company’s equity holders until the shares
are cancelled or reissued.
Where such ordinary shares are subsequently reissued, any consideration received, net of any directly attributable incremental
transaction costs and the related income tax effects, is included in equity attributable to the company’s equity holders.
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.

1.13 Share-based payments
Goods or services received or acquired in a share-based payment transaction are recognised when the goods or as the services
are received. A corresponding increase in equity is recognised if the goods or services were received in an equity-settled sharebased payment transaction or a liability if the goods or service were acquired in a cash-settled share-based payment transaction.
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1. PRESENTATION OF ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
1.13 Share-based payments (continued)
When the goods or services received or acquired in a share-based payment transaction do not qualify for recognition as assets,
they are recognised as expenses.
For equity-settled share-based payment transactions the goods or services received and the corresponding increase in equity are
measured, directly, at the fair value of the goods or services received provided that the fair value can be estimated reliably. The
value is determined at grant date and not subsequently adjusted.
If the fair value of the goods and services received cannot be estimated reliably, their value and the corresponding increase in
equity are measured by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments granted.
If the share-based payments granted do not vest until the counterparty completes a specified period of service, the group
accounts for those services as they are rendered by the counterparty during the vesting period, or on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period.
The fair value of the share-based payment is determined by applying the Black Scholes Merton Option valuation method.
At each reporting date management assesses the number of options it expects to vest and adjusts the calculation accordingly
so that the cost recognised over the vesting period reflects and is based on the number of options that ultimately vest.

1.14 Trade payables
Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from
suppliers. Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less. If not, they are presented
as non-current liabilities.
Trade payables are initially recognised at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
rate method.

1.15 Borrowings
Borrowings are classified as financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.
Any difference between the proceeds and redemption value is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income over the
period of the borrowing using the effective interest method.
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for
at least 12 months after the statement of financial position date. The subsequent measurement of financial instruments is dealt
with below.
A borrowing is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. On derecognition of a
borrowing, the difference between the carrying amount of the liability extinguished or transferred to another party and the amount
paid for is included in the statement of comprehensive income.

1.16 Current and deferred income tax
Tax is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, respectively.
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the statement of
financial position date in the countries where the group and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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1.16 Current and deferred income tax (continued)
Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, the deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that
at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax determined using tax rates
(and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the statement of financial position date and are expected to apply
when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.
Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

1.17 Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits
Remuneration of employees is charged to the income statement. Short-term employee benefits are those that are expected to be
settled wholly before 12 months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the services have been rendered such as
paid vacation leave and sick leave, bonuses and non-monetary benefits such as medical care. These costs are recognised in the
period which the service is rendered and are not discounted.
The expected cost of profit sharing and bonus payments is recognised as an expense when there is a legal or constructive
obligation to make such payments as result of past performance.

1.18 Leases
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. A lease is
classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.
Operating leases – lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference between the
amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual payments are recognised as an operating lease asset or liability.

1.19 Provisions and contingencies
Provisions are recognised when:
 the company has a present obligation as a result of a past event;
 it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation; and
 a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.
The amount of a provision is the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expected economic benefits to be required to settle the obligation using a
pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation.
The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as an interest expense.
If an entity has a contract that is onerous, the present obligation under the contract shall be recognised and measured as a
provision.
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised.
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1. PRESENTATION OF ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
1.19 Provisions and contingencies (continued)
Restoration, rehabilitation and environmental costs
An obligation to incur restoration, rehabilitation and environmental costs arises when environmental disturbances is proposed
relating to the granting of prospecting and/or mining rights. Such costs arising from prospecting activities and the decommissioning
of plant and other site preparation work, discounted to their net present value are provided for and capitalised at the start of each
project, as soon as the obligation to incur such costs arises.
These costs are charged against profits over the life of the operation, through the depreciation of the asset and the unwinding of
the discount on the provision. Costs for restoration of subsequent site damage which is created on an ongoing basis during
production are provided for at their net present values and charged against profits as extraction progresses.

1.20 Finance income
Finance income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method. When a receivable is impaired, the
group reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the estimated future cash flow discounted at the original
effective interest rate of the instrument, and continues unwinding the discount as interest income. Finance income on impaired
loans is recognised using the original effective interest rate.

1.21 Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

1.22 Dividend distribution
Dividend distribution to the group’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the group’s financial statements in the period in
which the dividends are approved by the group’s shareholders.

1.23 Comparatives
Comparative figures are reclassified or restated as necessary to afford a proper and more meaningful comparison of results as
set out in the affected notes to the financial statements.

1.24 Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision
maker. The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments has been identified as the chief executive officer. There is only one segment relating to expenditure which is
prospecting.

1.25 Earnings per share
(a)

Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the following:
 the profit attributable to owners of the company, excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares; and
 by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements
in ordinary shares issued during the year and excluding treasury shares.

(b)

Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account:
 the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares; and
 the weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that would have been outstanding assuming the conversion
of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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1.26 Discontinued operations
A discontinued operation is a component of the group that has been disposed of or is classified as held for sale and that
represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations, is part of a single coordinated plan to dispose
of such line of business or geographical area of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale. The results
of discontinued operations are presented separately in the statement of comprehensive income.

1.27 Deferred adjustment on fair value of financial instruments
When a financial asset or financial liability is recognised initially, an entity shall measure it at its fair value plus, in the case of a
financial asset or financial liability not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability.
Where the fair value of the financial asset or financial liability at initial recognition differs from the transaction price, a different
treatment is followed.
The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is normally the transaction price (ie the fair value
of the consideration given or received). If the group determines that the fair value at initial recognition differs from the transaction
price, the group shall account for that instrument at that date as follows:
 defer the difference between the fair value at initial recognition and the transaction price. After initial recognition, the entity shall
recognise that deferred difference as a gain or loss only to the extent that it arises from a change in a factor (including time)
that market participants would take into account when pricing the asset or liability.
The valuation used by the group is considered to be Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy due to unobservable inputs used in the
valuation for determination at each reporting date.
Management has used the unwinding of the present value charge debited to profit and loss as the method for measurement for
how the deferred difference will amortise and be released to profit and loss as the fair value of the liability would increase as it
nears redemption date. The unwinding charge calculates this differential.

2. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS
In preparing the annual financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts
represented in the annual financial statements and related disclosures. Use of available information and the application of judgement is
inherent in the information of estimates. Actual results in the future could differ from these entities which may be material to the annual
financial statements. Significant judgements include:
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of
future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
(a)

Loans and receivables
The group assesses its loans and receivables for impairment at the end of each reporting period. In determining whether an
impairment loss should be recorded in profit or loss, the group makes judgements as to whether there is observable data indicating
a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a financial asset.

(b)

Income taxes
The group is subject to income taxes. Significant judgement is required in determining the group’s provision for income taxes.
There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business.
The group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the
income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.
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2. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (continued)
(b)

Income taxes (continued)
The group recognises the net future tax benefit related to deferred income tax assets to the extent that it is probable that the
deductible temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future. Assessing the recoverability of deferred tax income assets
requires the group to make significant estimates related to expectations of future taxable income and based on forecast cash flows
from operations and application of existing tax laws in tax jurisdictions.
To the extent that future cash flows and taxable income differ significantly from estimates, the ability of the group to realise the net
deferred tax assets recorded at the end of the reporting period could be impacted.

(c)

Options granted
Management used the Black Scholes Merton Option valuation model to determine the fair value of the options granted at issue
date. Additional details are provided in note 10.

(d)

Going concern
MEDR is an exploration company not yet in a cash generating position which is obliged to fund exploration by equity. The group
is currently exploring options available to it to enable it to raise further capital in order to continue its exploration programme and
to cover all general and administration costs. The group’s future prospects and stability rely on its ability to raise further capital for
the ensuing year.
The group is currently in discussions with the majority shareholders to inject further cash into the group to cover general and
administration costs. Further issue of shares during the next reporting period is also under review. These measures are taken in
anticipation of exploration projects being evaluated.

(e)

Measurement of fair value of financial liabilities
The valuation used by the group is considered to be Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy due to unobservable inputs used in the
valuation for determination at each reporting date.
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GROUP

Figures in Rands

Cost
2016

Accumulated
depreciation
2016

Carrying
value
2016

Cost
2015

Accumulated
depreciation
2015

Carrying
value
2015

21 986

3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT
Leasehold improvements

–

–

–

79 542

(57 556)

Computer software

–

–

–

67 676

(67 076)

600

Motor vehicles

–

–

–

516 473

(380 885)

135 588

Furniture and equipment

–

–

–

93 828

(52 577)

41 251

IT equipment

–

–

–

185 552

(145 984)

39 568

Total

–

–

–

943 071

(704 078)

238 993

Opening
balance

Additions/
(disposals)

Disposal of
subsidiary

Depreciation

Total

21 986

–

(21 986)

–

–

Reconciliation of property, plant
and equipment – 2016
Leasehold improvements
Computer software

600

–

(600)

–

–

135 588

(68 082)

(67 506)

–

–

Furniture and equipment

41 251

–

(41 251)

–

–

IT equipment

39 568

–

(39 568)

–

–

238 993

(68 082)

(170 911)

–

–

Opening
balance

Additions

Disposals

Depreciation

Total

21 986

Motor vehicles

Total

Reconciliation of property, plant
and equipment – 2015
Leasehold improvements

37 895

–

(15 909)

Computer software

20 331

–

(19 731)

600

357 719

–

(141 361)

135 588

Motor vehicles
Furniture and equipment

(80 770)

59 596

–

(18 345)

41 251

IT equipment

101 356

–

(61 788)

–

39 568

Total

576 897

–

(142 558)

(195 346)

238 993

The company does not own any property, plant and equipment.
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GROUP
Figures in Rands

COMPANY

2016

2015

2016

2015

–

4. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Prospecting right
Cost
1 200 000

1 200 000

–

Additions

Cost at 1 March

–

–

–

–

Disposals/transfers

–

–

–

–

1 200 000

1 200 000

–

–

–

–

–

–

Cost at 29 February
Accumulated amortisation
At 1 March

–

–

–

–

Impairment charge

Charge for the period

1 200 000

–

–

–

Accumulated depreciation at 29 February

1 200 000

–

–

–

–

1 200 000

–

–

Net book value at 29 February

The prospecting right refers to the right issued on 14 November 2006 to prospect for platinum group metals on portions 3, 5, 39, 40 and
42 of the remaining extent of portion 4 and the remaining farm Leeuwkopje 415 KQ as well as the remaining extent of portion 1, the
remaining extent of portion 3, the remaining extent of portion 5, portions 6, 7, 8, 10 and 11 of the farm Kaalvlakte 416 KQ situated in the
magisterial district of Thabazimbi.
This prospecting right expired on 13 March 2015. Fast Pace Trade and Invest 32 Proprietary Limited applied for a retention permit before
the right expired. The board believes that either the retention permit or the new application will be sufficient in retaining the prospecting
right. For sake of prudence and in light of the current uncertainty around the awarding of the retention permit, management has decided
to impair the prospecting right in full until such time that the retention permit is awarded.
The group has applied for prospecting rights and retention permits, the cost of which has been expensed in the year of application.
A full list of such rights is available for inspection at the company’s head office.
A litigious matter has been initiated that may have an influence on the right to explore and mine over certain properties which the group
has prospecting rights over. At the date of this report there has been no resolution to this matter.
No amortisation has been recognised as mining has not yet commenced.
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5. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
The following table lists the entities which are controlled by the group, either directly or indirectly through subsidiaries:

COMPANY

% holding
2016

% holding
2015

Carrying
amount
2016

Carrying
amount
2015

100

100

152 245 645

152 245 645

Corpcapital Investments Proprietary Limited

100

100

–

100

Corpcapital Investments 2 Proprietary Limited#

100

100

–

22 051 180

Withdrawn Limited#

100

100

–

20 000 000

Name of company
Sable Platinum Holdings Proprietary Limited
#

Impairment and write off of investments in subsidiaries

152 245 645

194 296 925

(152 245 645)

(147 431 229)

–

46 865 696

# Corpcapital Investments Proprietary Limited, Corpcapital Investments 2 Proprietary Limited and Withdrawn Limited are in the process of being liquidated.

% holding
2016

% holding
2015

Bridge Line Proprietary Limited*

51

74

Coveway Trade and Invest 46 Proprietary Limited*

51

51

Dotfull Trading Proprietary Limited*

74

74

Fast Pace Trade and Invest 32 Proprietary Limited*

74

74

Fast Pull Trade and Invest Proprietary Limited*

74

100

Middlewave Trade and Invest 4 Proprietary Limited*

74

0

Ochre Shimmer Trade and Invest 72 Proprietary Limited*

51

100

Rickshaw Trade and Invest 86 Proprietary Limited*

74

74

Roan Platinum Proprietary Limited

74

74

Sable Platinum Joint Venture Proprietary Limited*

51

51

0

100

Saddle Path Props 54 Proprietary Limited*

74

74

Squirewood Investments 98 Proprietary Limited*

74

74

Writer Star Trade and Invest Proprietary Limited

74

74

Gemsbok Magnetite Proprietary Limited

–

74

Caber Trade and Invest 1 Proprietary Limited

–

51

Great 1 Line Invest Proprietary Limited

–

70

Held by Sable Platinum Holdings Proprietary Limited (“SPH”)

Sable Platinum Mining Limited◊

Held by Sable Platinum Mining Limited (“SPM”)

◊ SPM repurchased its shares on 25 January 2016. The investments held by SPM are collectively referred to as the project companies and have been
disposed of during the financial year.
* These subsidiaries were previously owned by SPM and are collectively referred to as the retained companies. In terms of the scheme of arrangement
approved on 25 January 2016, SPM sold its shares in the retained companies to SPH. It therefore remains in the group.
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GROUP
Figures in Rands

COMPANY

2016

2015

2016

2015

Sable Platinum Holdings Proprietary Limited

–

–

37 260 992

34 506 210

Impairment of loans to subsidiary

–

–

(37 260 992)

(18 842 507)

Total assets

–

–

–

15 663 703

Receivable within one year

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

15 663 703

6. FINANCIAL ASSETS
Loan to subsidiary

The loan is unsecured and interest free. The loan has been subordinated in favour of the other creditors of Sable Platinum Holdings
Proprietary Limited (“SPH”), until such time as the assets, fairly valued, of SPH exceed its liabilities.
The group and its subsidiaries are exploration companies not yet in a cash generating position. The loan to SPH has accordingly been impaired.

GROUP
Figures in Rands

2016

COMPANY
2015

2016

2015

Other financial assets
403 295

687 033

–

–

Mineral Capital Assets Proprietary Limited

Restricted cash – environmental guarantees

–

3 677 323

–

–

Impairment

–

(3 677 323)

–

–

Total asset

403 295

687 033

–

–

–

–

–

–

403 295

687 033

–

–

Receivable within one year

The environmental guarantees were issued to the Department of Mineral Resources (“DMR”) and are secured by cash call accounts held
by Nedbank and Standard Bank. The letters of guarantee are in respect of financial guarantees for the rehabilitation of land disturbed by
prospecting or mining activities. The guarantees shall lapse on the granting of a closure certificate in terms of the MPRDA or by three
months’ written notice in advance.
The terms of the contract with Mineral Capital Asset Proprietary Limited expired on 30 June 2011. However, this right vested with Sable
Platinum Mining Proprietary Limited, which is no longer part of the group as at 29 February 2016.

GROUP
Figures in Rands

COMPANY

2016

2015

2016

2015

403 295

687 033

–

15 663 703

–

–

–

–

403 295

687 033

–

15 663 703

Non-current assets
At amortised cost
Current assets
At amortised cost
Total financial assets
At amortised cost

The fair value of these instruments approximates their carrying value, due to their short-term nature.
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GROUP
Figures in Rands

COMPANY

2016

2015

2016

2015

7. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Deposits
Value added tax
Sundry debtors

–

130 591

–

–

107 629

51 090

–

–

5 286

–

–

–

James Allan as agent and intermediary of MEDR
shareholders (refer to note 26)

100 000

–

–

–

Prepayment – consulting fees

–

70 000

–

–

Prepayment – exploration drilling

–

908 117

–

–

Impairment – prepayment exploration drilling

–

(908 117)

–

–

212 915

251 681

–

–

The James Allan receivable represents the proceeds owing to the group for the sale of the loan claim by SPH against SPM to all
shareholders of MEDR (previously Sable Metals and Minerals Limited) according to the scheme of arrangement approved on 25 January
2016. No trade and other receivables are past due.
Trade and other receivables impaired
As of 29 February 2016, trade and other receivables of R Nil (2015: R908 117) were impaired. The amount of the allowance was R Nil as
of 29 February 2016 (2015: R908 117). The ageing of these trade and other receivables is as follows:

GROUP
Figures in Rands
In excess of six months

COMPANY

2016

2015

2016

2015

–

908 117

–

–

Movements on the group’s and company’s provision for
impairment of trade and receivables are as follows:
At the beginning of the year
Provision for receivables impairment
Disposed of as part of sale of subsidiary

908 117

586 812

–

–

–

321 305

–

–

(908 117)

–

–

–

Unused amounts reversed

–

–

–

–

At the end of the year

–

908 117

–

–

The creation and release of provision for impaired receivables have been included in other expenses in the statement of comprehensive
income. Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally written off when there is no expectation of recovering additional cash.
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GROUP
Figures in Rands

COMPANY

2016

2015

2016

2015

2 803

13 148

–

–

398 113

20 050

–

–

400 916

33 198

–

–

Opening balance

186 263 412

150 743 848

186 263 412

150 743 848

Shares issued

200 000 000

35 519 564

200 000 000

35 519 564

8. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents consist of:
Cash on hand
Bank balances

The group and the company have no overdraft facility.

9. SHARE CAPITAL
Authorised
1 000 000 000 ordinary shares of no par value
Reconciliation of number of shares issued

Escrow shares released

41 648 396

–

41 648 396

–

Vesting of share options

7 214 709

–

7 214 709

–

435 126 517

186 263 412

435 126 517

186 263 412

Shares in issue

435 126 517

227 911 808

435 126 517

227 911 808

Escrow shares

–

(41 648 396)

–

(41 648 396)

435 126 517

186 263 412

435 126 517

186 263 412

Directors were issued with a general authority to be able to issue shares not exceeding 34 186 771 shares as at the annual general
meeting that was held on 16 July 2015.
The following approvals were granted to the board of directors at the extraordinary general meeting held on 25 January 2016:
 the issue of 200 000 000 shares at an issue price of 4 cents which yielded a gross amount of R8 000 000 before the capitalisation of
professional costs;
 the release of 41 648 396 shares held in escrow by Java Capital Trustees and Sponsors Proprietary Limited;
– The escrow agreement was entered into in 2012 when JG Allan, PA Poulsom, RC Hochreiter, GL Hochreiter, Yawara Capital
Proprietary Limited (D Levithan), PSG Nominees (B Schabort), CP Mostert, J Louw, Allan Hochreiter Investments Proprietary Limited
and Leg Legacy Platinum Corporation (“the vendors”) sold all the issued shares in Sable Platinum Holdings Proprietary Limited to
New Corpcapital Limited (previously known as “Sable” and now known as MEDR);
– The escrow agreement was entered into between the vendors, MEDR and Sable Platinum Holdings Proprietary Limited in terms of
which a total number of 41 648 396 Sable consideration shares issued to the vendors, were to be held in escrow by Java Capital
Trustees and Sponsors Proprietary Limited pending the resolution of two matters, namely the Syferfontein and Bank litigation;
– The provisions of the escrow agreement did not provide for a change in control of Sable before the matters had been resolved and
the escrow shares had been released; and
– Change in control was triggered with the specific issue of shares hence the approval by shareholders at the extraordinary general
meeting;
 immediate vesting of 7 214 709 share rights which has triggered a full release of the share-based payment reserve amount to share
capital.
A further resolution authorised the directors to allot and issue any of the authorised shares placed under their control.
There were no changes in the authorised share capital for the period under review.
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GROUP
Figures in Rands

9.

COMPANY

2016

2015

2016

2015

87 889 857

85 747 232

306 026 563

303 883 938

8 000 000

12 142 625

8 000 000

12 142 625

payment reserve

3 823 796

–

3 823 796

–

Capitalised costs

(245 218)

–

(245 218)

–

–

(10 000 000)

–

(10 000 000)

99 468 435

87 889 857

317 605 140

306 026 563

2 045 178

1 778 618

2 045 178

1 778 618

9 619 612

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)
Issued
Opening balance
Subscription for shares/shares issued
Vesting of share options – transfer from share-based

Familia contingent loan recorded – restatement (note 28)

10. SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME
Sable Platinum performance rights scheme
Expense arising from share-based payment transactions
Participants in the share incentive scheme are required to
be in the employment of the group for a minimum of three
years from the inception of the share incentive scheme.
Reconciliation of number of options
Opening balance

7 214 709

9 619 612

7 214 709

Options granted during the year

–

–

–

–

Forfeited during the year

–

(2 404 903)

–

(2 404 903)

(7 214 709)

–

(7 214 709)

–

–

7 214 709

–

7 214 709

Vested during the year

In terms of paragraph 1.9 of the Sable Platinum performance rights scheme, rights to shares would vest in the event that the company
is taken over, delisted or become the subject of a merger. There will be a change of control as a result of the specific issue and scheme
of arrangement. The remuneration and nominations committee has determined the numbers of rights that would vest. The shareholders
were requested to amend the scheme.
As a result of the immediate vesting of the share rights, a IFRS 2 Share-based payment charge has been raised in the statement of
comprehensive income of R2 045 178 for the remaining period of the rights. With the full charge being recognised the amount recorded
in the share-based payment reserve of R3 823 796 has been transferred to share capital as the transaction has now been settled and
shares have been issued.
The vested options were granted to senior executive directors and was intended to function as a bonus scheme for the senior executive
directors of the group.
The values of the share options were determined using the Black Scholes Merton Option Valuation Model, for equity-settled instruments.
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10. SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME (continued)
The model inputs were as follows:
Share price at reporting date

R0,23

Exercise price

R0,00

Expected volatility

24,14%

Risk-free interest rate

5,50%

Dividend yield

0%

Fair value determined by a 30-day VWAP as 28 February 2014

R0,53

Mark to market value

R0,23

The volatility is based on statistical analysis of the daily share price over the last 12 months prior to issue date

GROUP
Figures in Rands

2016

COMPANY
2015

2016

2015

11. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Unsecured loans
Alan Hochreiter Investments Proprietary Limited

–

468 013

–

–

Familia Asset Managers Proprietary Limited

–

6 295 056

–

6 295 056

Platanoides Limited

–

750 000

–

–

Total liability

–

7 513 069

–

6 295 056

Payable within one year

–

(967 089)

–

–

–

6 545 980

–

6 295 056

The fair value of these instruments approximates their carrying value, due to their short-term nature.
The Alan Hochreiter loan represented costs paid for expenses in the various subsidiaries. The loan was unsecured, interest free and
repayable subject to a 12-month notice period. The balance of this loan was ceded to Sable Platinum Mining Limited as part of the
scheme of arrangement which was approved by shareholders on 25 January 2016 (refer to note 17).
Familia Asset Managers Proprietary Limited (“Familia”) offered to provide funding of R10 million to Sable, and the terms of the funding
were approved by shareholders of MEDR (previously Sable Metals and Minerals Limited) on 27 October 2014:
 The funds were utilised in the operations of the group companies.
 The company entered into a specific issue of shares for cash agreement with Familia as a result of which 31 041 971 ordinary MEDR
shares were issued to Familia in tranches and at different prices from June to October 2014.
 The conditions relating to the issue were as follows:
– Familia would be entitled to a receipt of a commission on the sales of ore from any of the properties over which the MEDR group
has a mineral right. If MEDR sells the right to an ore body or sells a company holding a mineral right, then Familia shall be entitled
to a maximum of 5% of the proceeds. If the group has not been granted a mining right and concluded an off-take agreement for
the sale of 50 000 tonnes of ore per month, which ore is to be supplied from the property holding the mining right:
– within a period of two and a half years from 2 June 2014, a penalty of R2,5 million will accrue to Familia, which amount shall be
credited to a loan account;
– within a period of two years and nine months from 2 June 2014, a further penalty of R2,5 million will accrue and be credited to
Familia’s loan account;
– within a period of three years from 2 June 2014, a further penalty of R5 million will accrue and be credited to Familia’s loan account;
and
– the loan account will be payable upon demand from 2 June 2017.
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11. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (continued)
This loan was not recorded in the original 2015 results as management was of the opinion that the loan constituted a contingent liability.
Refer to note 28 on the restatement and directors’ report.
The balance of this loan was ceded to Sable Platinum Mining Proprietary Limited as part of the scheme of arrangement which was
approved by shareholders on 25 January 2016 (refer to note 17).
The Platanoides loan bore interest at the three-month JIBAR rate and was to be paid annually in advance. Repayments were on demand
but demand may not be made within 12 months of signature, being 29 January 2015. This loan is payable by Sable Platinum Mining
Limited which was disposed of during the year.

GROUP
Figures in Rands

COMPANY

2016

2015

2016

2015

James Allan

–

1 097 638

–

–

Total liability

–

1 097 638

–

–

Payable within one year

–

–

–

–

–

1 097 638

–

–

Loan from director

The fair value of these instruments approximates their carrying value, due to their short-term nature.
This loan was unsecured and bore interest at the prime rate. Payment was deferred until such time that adequate funding had been
obtained. The loan had been subordinated by the lender.
The balance of this loan was ceded to Sable Platinum Mining Limited as part of the scheme of arrangement which was approved by
shareholders on 25 January 2016 (refer to note 17).

GROUP
Figures in Rands

COMPANY

2016

2015

2016

2015

–

7 643 618

–

6 295 056

–

967 089

–

–

–

8 610 707

–

6 295 056

3 704 944

4 107 694

3 704 944

4 107 694

(1 381 080)

(402 750)

(1 381 080)

(402 750)

(2 323 864)

–

(2 323 864)

–

–

3 704 944

–

3 704 944

Non-current liabilities
At amortised cost
Current liabilities
At amortised cost
Total financial liabilities
At amortised cost

12. DEFERRED PRESENT VALUE ADJUSTMENT
Opening balance
Adjustment arising on fair value of Familia loan at inception
Release of deferred present value on fair value of loan at end
of reporting period (note 20).
Release of deferred present value on liability on cession of
liability to profit and loss
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12. DEFERRED PRESENT VALUE ADJUSTMENT (continued)
The restatement of the Familia loan in note 28 refers. When the Familia loan was fair valued at inception, a deferred present value
adjustment arose which would over time be released to profit and loss.
Fair value
Various valuation techniques and assumptions are utilised for the purpose of calculating fair value. The group does not hold any financial
instruments traded in an active market.
Fair value is determined using valuation techniques as outlined below. Where possible, inputs are based on quoted prices and other
market determined variables.
Fair value hierarchy
The calculation of fair value requires various inputs into the valuation methodologies used.
The source of the inputs used affects the reliability and accuracy of the valuations. Significant inputs have been classified into the
hierarchical levels in line with IFRS 13, as shown below:
Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability (directly or indirectly); and
Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are unobservable.
The following table is provided representing the fair value of the Familia loan at inception. Subsequently the fair value approximates the
carrying value:

Financial instrument

Fair value
1 November
2014

Familia loan (note 11)

5 892 306

Valuation method

Significant inputs

Fair value hierarchy of inputs

Discounted present value

Market-related rates

Level 3

An increase of one percent in the discounted interest rates would have decreased the fair value of the Familia loan by R142 774 and a
decrease of one percent would have increased the fair value R146 208 at 28 February 2015.

GROUP
Figures in Rands

COMPANY

2016

2015

2016

2015

–

773 375

–

80 294

Accrued expenses

2 086 438

265 000

–

–

Other payables

1 000 000

95 876

1 000 000

95 875

Payroll accruals

–

310 000

–

–

3 086 438

1 444 251

1 000 000

176 169

13. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Trade payables

Other payables represent the outstanding obligation to Sable Platinum Mining Limited for the cession and assignment of current and
contingent liabilities (refer to note 26).
The fair value of these instruments approximates their carrying value, due to their short-term nature.
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GROUP
Figures in Rands

COMPANY

2016

2015

2016

2015

–

–

–

–

Amounts unpaid at the beginning of the year

–

–

–

–

Amount charged to the statement of comprehensive income

–

–

–

–

Movement in deferred tax

–

–

–

–

Amounts unpaid at the end of the year

–

–

–

–

Per the cash flow statement

–

–

–

–

Loans and
receivables

Non-financial
assets

Total

Trade and other receivables

105 286

107 629

212 915

Other financial assets

403 295

–

403 295

Cash and cash equivalents

400 916

–

400 916

909 497

107 629

1 017 126

Trade and other receivables

130 591

121 090

251 681

Other financial assets

687 033

–

687 033

33 198

–

33 198

850 822

121 090

971 912

–

–

–

–

–

–

15 663 703

–

15 663 703

15 663 703

–

15 663 703

14. CURRENT TAX LIABILITIES
Net tax payable
Tax paid has been reconciled as follows:

15. FINANCIAL ASSETS BY CATEGORY
GROUP
2016

2015

Cash and cash equivalents

COMPANY
2016
Loans to group companies

2015
Loans to group companies
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Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost

Non-financial
liabilities

Total

3 086 438

–

3 086 438

3 086 438

–

3 086 438

Trade and other payables

1 134 251

310 000

1 444 251

Unsecured loans

7 513 069

–

7 513 069

Loan from director

1 097 638

–

1 097 638

9 744 958

310 000

10 054 958

1 000 000

–

1 000 000

1 000 000

–

1 000 000

176 169

–

176 169

6 295 056

–

6 295 056

6 471 225

–

6 471 225

16. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY
GROUP
2016
Trade and other payables

2015

COMPANY
2016
Trade and other payables

2015
Trade and other payables
Unsecured loans

17. DISCONTINUED OPERATION
Description
As part of the scheme of arrangement that was approved by shareholders on 25 January 2016, Sable Platinum Mining Limited (“SPM”),
would repurchase the 370 issued shares held by Sable Platinum Holdings Proprietary Limited for a consideration of R5. This is reported
in the current period as a discontinued operation.
Financial information relating to the discontinued operation for the period to date of disposal is set out below.
Financial performance and cash flow information
The financial performance and cash flow information presented are for the 11 months ended 25 January 2016 and the year ended
28 February 2015.

2016

2015

–

–

Expenses

(5 409 185)

(12 425 744)

Loss before income tax

(5 409 185)

(12 425 744)

–

–

Revenue

Income tax
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2016

2015

Loss after income tax of discontinued operation

(5 409 185)

(12 425 744)

Gain on sale of subsidiary after income tax

5 740 710

–

331 525

(12 425 744)

–

–

331 525

(12 425 744)

(5 921 040)

(12 011 655)

17. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (continued)

Profit/(loss) from discontinued operation
Other comprehensive income
Other comprehensive income/(loss) from discontinued operation
Net cash inflow from operating activities
Net cash inflow from investing activities
Net cash outflow from financing activities
Net cash increase generated by subsidiary

(1 600)

11 454 782

6 591 632

695 000

668 992

138 127

In terms of the scheme of arrangement approved by shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting of 25 January 2016, MEDR
(previously Sable) would pay a consideration of R6 000 000 to SPM for the cession and assignment of all current and contingent
liabilities of MEDR and Sable Platinum Holdings Proprietary Limited (“SPH”) which would include the following:
 the Familia agreement and Sable’s liability towards Familia;
 Sable’s contingent obligation to pay arrear non-executive directors’ fees of approximately R2 million;
 Sable and SPH’s obligation to repay unsecured loans to Allan Hochreiter Investments Proprietary Limited and James Allan;
 Sable’s contingent obligation to repay the loan of R6 million to Lemur Resources Limited.
Details of the sale of the subsidiary

2016
Consideration received in cash
Carrying amount of net assets sold
Property, plant and equipment
Other financial assets

5
85 253 322
(170 911)
(1 929 206)

Trade receivables

(672 273)

Cash

(687 786)

Total assets

(3 460 176)

Non-current loans

80 184 892

Current loans

7 899 518

Trade payables

629 088

Total liabilities

88 713 498

Profit on sale of subsidiary

85 253 317

Loss on sale of subsidiary loan account

(79 449 987)

Non-controlling interest

(62 620)

Income tax on gain
Profit on sale of subsidiary after tax

–
5 740 710
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GROUP
Figures in Rands

COMPANY

2016

2015

2016

2015

–

–

–

41 231 264

of approved scheme of arrangement

5 523 720

–

4 176 169

–

Profit on acquisition of loan accounts

1 374 301

–

–

–

Profit on sale of plant and equipment

–

68 532

–

–

625 375

2 023 650

–

–

7 523 397

2 092 182

4 176 169

41 231 264

18. OTHER INCOME
Dividends received from subsidiaries
Profit on cession of liabilities and payables in terms

Sundry income

19. OPERATING LOSS
Operating loss for the year is stated after accounting
for the following:
Audit fees

200 000

265 000

–

–

Depreciation

–

195 346

–

–

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries

–

–

46 865 696

134 457 049

Impairment of loans to subsidiaries

–

–

18 418 485

–

Impairment of trade receivables

–

908 117

–

–

Impairment of prospecting right

1 200 000

–

–

–

–

–

Operating lease charges
Premises

294 824

986 937

–

–

–

107 291

–

–

Employee costs

1 361 652

4 166 986

–

–

IFRS 2 Share-based payment charge

2 045 178

1 778 618

2 045 178

1 778 618

1 381 080

402 750

1 381 080

402 750

1 381 080

402 750

1 381 080

402 750

Equipment

20. FINANCE INCOME
Release of deferred finance income arising on present
value of liability

21. FINANCE COSTS
Loan from director
Unwinding of liability present value
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94 414

114 123

–

–

1 381 080

402 750

1 381 080

402 750

1 475 494

516 873

1 381 080

402 750

GROUP
Figures in Rands

COMPANY

2016

2015

2016

2015

Normal

–

–

–

–

Capital gains tax

–

–

–

–

Total current tax

–

–

–

–

Tax losses available for set off against future taxable income

–

–

–

–

Origination and reversal of temporary differences

–

–

–

–

Total deferred tax

–

–

–

–

Income tax expense

–

–

–

–

Accounting (loss)/profit before tax

(914 421)

(2 911 533)

(63 153 190)

(95 370 023)

Calculated tax at the applicable tax rate

(256 038)

(815 229)

(17 682 893)

(26 703 606)

Assessed loss asset not recognised

765 888

459 210

–

102 374

Non-deductible expenditure

727 544

112 770

386 702

112 770

Non-deductible share-based payment expense

572 650

498 013

572 650

498 013
37 647 974

22. INCOME TAX EXPENSE
Major components of the income tax expense

Deferred

Reconciliation of the tax expense
The tax on the group and the company’s (loss)/profit before
tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using
the weighted average tax rate applicable to profits as follows:

Non-deductible impairments
Non-taxable income

–

–

18 279 571

(1 810 045)

(254 764)

(1 556 030)

(112 770)

–

–

–

(11 544 754)

–

–

–

–

Non-taxable dividend income

No provision has been made for taxation as the group and the company have no taxable income. The estimated tax losses available for
the group for set off against future taxable income is R18 271 371 (2015: R85 867 748). The estimated tax loss for the company available
for set off against future taxable income is R1 481 442 (2015: R1 481 442).
No deferred tax asset has been recognised as there is no reasonable indication as to when the group or the company will become
profitable or commence mining.
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GROUP
Figures in Rands

COMPANY

2016

2015

2016

2015

(582 896)

(15 337 277)

(63 153 190)

(95 370 023)

Depreciation

–

257 133

–

–

Net profit on disposal of plant and equipment

–

(68 352)

–

–

Profit on cession of loan liabilities

(5 523 720)

–

(4 176 169)

–

Profit on acquisition of loan accounts

(1 374 301)

–

–

–

Profit on sale of subsidiary

(5 740 710)

–

–

–

Loss on sale of loan claims

179 392

Other non-cash flow

(31 759)

–

–

–

–

–

–

(41 231 264)

Finance income (non-cash flow)

(1 381 080)

(402 750)

(1 381 080)

(402 750)

Finance costs

23. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS
Loss before tax including discontinued operations
Adjustments for:

Dividends received

1 475 494

516 873

1 381 080

402 750

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries

–

–

46 865 696

134 457 049

Impairment of loans to subsidiaries

–

–

18 418 485

–

Impairment of prospecting right

1 200 000

–

–

–

Share-based payment reserve

2 045 178

1 778 618

2 045 178

1 778 618

Changes in working capital
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other payables

(633 507)

739 113

–

–

1 447 549

(102 909)

–

95 875

(8 920 360)

(12 619 551)

–

(269 744)

24. CONTINGENCIES
In terms of the scheme of arrangement approved on 25 January 2016 the group and the company have ceded and assigned all current
and contingent liabilities to Sable Platinum Mining Limited.
For the year ended 28 February 2015 the group had the following contingent liabilities:
 certain staff members and directors accepted decreases in their salary to preserve working capital. The amount forfeited during the
2015 reporting year was R4 614 400 and accumulated R8 264 800. The board might have considered payment of the amount forfeited
when sufficient capital was raised;
 the head office rent payable to a related party had been forgiven until the group obtained sufficient funding to continue with
operations. The amount forgiven at the 2015 year-end was R220 000. The board might have considered payment of the amount
forfeited when sufficient capital was raised; and
 Alan Hochreiter Proprietary Limited forfeited amounts during the 2015 reporting period of R295 217 and accumulated up to 2015 of
R2 653 002. The board might have considered payment of these amounts forfeited when sufficient capital was raised.
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GROUP
Figures in Rands

COMPANY

2016

2015

2016

2015

– within one year

375 112

669 797

–

–

– in second to fifth year inclusive

195 503

683 069

–

–

570 616

1 352 866

–

–

25. COMMITMENTS
Operating leases – as lessee (expense)
Minimum lease payments due

Operating lease payments represent property rental payable by the group for the head office. Leases are negotiated for an average term
of three years. The prior year includes commitments due by the disposed subsidiary, Sable Platinum Mining Limited.

COMPANY
Figures in Rands

2016

2015

37 260 992

34 506 210

100 000

–

1 000 000

–

Corpcapital Investments Proprietary Limited

–

1 184 949

Corpcapital Investments Two Proprietary Limited

–

10 281 065

Withdrawn Limited

–

29 861 125

–

41 327 139

2 045 178

1 778 618

26. RELATED PARTIES
Relationships
Subsidiaries (refer to note 5)
Members of key management (refer to note 27)
Related-party balances
(i)

Loan accounts owing by
Sable Platinum Holdings Proprietary Limited

(ii)

Trade and other receivables
J Allan as agent and intermediary of MEDR shareholders (refer to note 7)

(iii)

Trade and other payables
Sable Platinum Mining Limited (refer to note 13)

The following transactions were carried out with related parties:
Related party-transactions
(i)

(ii)

Other income – dividends received

Compensation to directors and other key management
Long-term benefits – share-based incentive scheme

(iii)

Transactions with disposed subsidiary – Sable Platinum Mining (Pty) Ltd
Cession and assignment of current and contingent liabilities (refer to note 17)
Purchase of retained companies by subsidiary (refer to note 5)
These transactions were carried out on commercial terms and conditions and at market prices.
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GROUP
Figures in Rands

Salary

Benefits

Total

James Allan

900 000

–

900 000

Eshaan Singh (appointed 31 August 2015, resigned 29 July 2016)

105 000

–

105 000

1 005 000

–

1 005 000

James Allan

990 000

–

990 000

Rene Hochreiter (resigned 7 March 2016)

720 000

–

720 000

David Leviathan (changed to non-executive)

672 000

–

672 000

Marietjie van Tonder (resigned 27 February 2015)

525 000

–

525 000

2 907 000

–

2 907 000

27. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
Executive
2016

A special resolution was approved at the extraordinary general meeting of
25 January 2016 ratifying the amendment to early vest 7 214 709 share rights.
3 847 845 of these share rights were awarded to James Allan. Refer to point 5
in the directors’ report.
2015

Salaries used to be paid by Sable Platinum Mining Limited for services rendered to the group.
Non-executive
The liability to pay the non-executive directors fees for the year was ceded to Sable Platinum Mining Limited, which will attend to the
payment thereof. No fees were paid or were payable by the group for the period.
During the 2015 financial year the payment of the fees were contingent on the group obtaining sufficient funding, whereafter these fees
may be paid at the discretion of the board. The amount forfeited during 2015 is R562 510.

28. RESTATEMENT
The JSE advised the company that they had reviewed the 2015 integrated annual financial statements (“AFS”) as part of an ongoing
proactive monitoring review process and disagreed with the board’s judgmental decision on the classification of Familia Asset Managers
Proprietary Limited as a subscription for shares as equity. The opinion of the JSE was that this was not compliant with IAS 32.25.
Management agreed to include this restatement as per IAS 8 in the interim results for the six months ended 31 August 2015 and the
reviewed provisional results for the year ending 29 February 2016. As a result of this the present value of the liability of R10 million at
June 2017 was calculated as R6 295 056 as of 28 February 2015.
Before the liability was ceded to Sable Platinum Mining Limited in terms of the scheme of arrangement approved by shareholders on
25 January 2016, these amounts had been reported as non-current liabilities in the restated AFS for February 2015 and the interim
results for August 2015.
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28. RESTATEMENT (continued)
The effect of the restatement, when applied to the 28 February 2015 financial year, had the following effect:

Figures in Rands

Previously
reported

Adjustment

Restated

Statement of financial position
Share capital

97 889 857

(10 000 000)

87 889 857

Non-current liabilities

1 348 562

6 295 056

7 643 618

Other financial liabilities

1 348 562

–

1 348 562

–

6 295 056

6 295 056

(100 928 894)

–

(100 928 894)

Familia loan
Accumulated loss
Statement of comprehensive income
Finance income – release of deferred PV

–

402 750

402 750

Finance cost – unwinding of PV of liability

(114 123)

(402 750)

(516 873)

Loan from director

(114 123)

–

(114 123)

–

(402 750)

(402 750)

97 889 857

(10 000 000)

87 889 857

(100 928 894)

–

(100 928 894)

Unwinding of PV of liability
Statement of changes in equity
Share capital
Accumulated loss
Statement of cash flows
There was no change to the statement of cash flows.

IAS 8 requires the presentation of a third statement of financial position where there has been a restatement from the correction of an
error. However, the retrospective restatement only has financial effect on the prior financial period ended 28 February 2015 and has no
effect on the financial position at the beginning of the preceding period.
No third statement of financial position has thus been presented.

29. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE
No material events have occurred subsequent to year-end, other than discussed under the going concern paragraph.
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GROUP
Figures in Rands

2016

2015

30. EARNINGS AND HEADLINE EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic earnings/(loss) per share
Attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company
From continuing operations (cents)

(0,37)

(1,41)

From discontinued operations (cents)

0,13

(6,02)

Total basic loss per share

(0,24)

(7,43)

From continuing operations (cents)

(3,21)

(1,41)

From discontinued operations (cents)

(2,31)

(6,02)

Total headline loss per share

(5,52)

(7,43)

(914 421)

(2 911 533)

Profit on cession of loan liabilities

(5 523 720)

–

Profit on acquisition of loan accounts

(1 374 301)

–

Loss on sale of loan claims

179 392

–

Non-controlling interest

(312 000)

–

(7 945 050)

(2 911 533)

331 525

(12 425 744)

(5 740 710)

–

(312 000)

(723)

(5 721 185)

(12 426 467)

247 727 422

206 406 866

–

–

247 727 422

206 406 866

Headline loss per share
Attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company

Reconciliation of loss used in calculating earnings per share and headline loss per share
Profit attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company used in calculating basic
loss per share
From continuing operations
Adjusted for:

From discontinuing operations
Adjusted for:
Profit on disposal of subsidiary
Non-controlling interest

Weighted average number of shares used as the denominator
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the denominator in calculating
basic earnings per share
Adjusted for calculation of diluted earnings per shares
There is no dilutive impact from the options granted as all have vested
Weighted average number of ordinary shares and potential ordinary shares used
as the denominator in calculating diluted earnings per share
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31. GOING CONCERN
The group and company continued to incur losses in the current year. The annual financial statements will be prepared on the basis
of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. This basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations
and that the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments, will occur in the ordinary
course of business.
MEDR is an exploration company not yet in a cash generating position which is obliged to fund exploration by equity. The group is
currently exploring options available to it to enable it to raise further capital in order to continue its exploration programme and to
cover all general and administration costs. The group’s future prospects and stability rely on its ability to raise further capital for the
ensuing year.
At 29 February 2016 the company and the group had negative equity attributable to owners of the parent of R1 000 000 and R1 731 354,
respectively. The company incurred a net loss of R63 153 190 and the group a net loss of R582 896 for the year ended and, as that date,
the group’s total liabilities, fairly valued, exceeded its total assets by R2 069 312.
The group has a cash burn of approximately R450 000 per month and has been successful in reducing this from about R1 million per
month last year at the time of the previous report.
In mitigation of the growing going concern, the company has done the following:
 implementation of the approved scheme of arrangement in terms of section 115 of the Companies Act, where the group has divested
itself from all historical liabilities;
 the specific issue of 200 000 000 shares for cash;
 BLA, as majority shareholder, has indicated that MEDR is required to make acquisitions in the diamond mining sector and various
projects had been explored. A heads of agreement has been entered into between SPH and Blain Capital Solutions Proprietary
Limited (“Blain”) to acquire the Kamfersdam dumps and equipment on the farm Roode Pan No 70, Kimberley.
The group is currently in discussions with the majority shareholders to inject further cash into the group to cover general and
administration costs. Further issue of shares during the next reporting period is also under review.
These measures are taken in anticipation of exploration projects being evaluated.
In the event that no further capital is raised, funding is received and the Blain exploration project does not materialise, the group will
cease to be a going concern.

32. RISK MANAGEMENT
Financial risk management
The group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest rate risk, cash flow
interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
Risk management is carried out at group level under policies approved by the board of directors. Group treasury identifies, evaluates
and responds to financial risks in close cooperation of the group’s operating units. The board provides written principles for overall risk
management, as well as written policies covering specific areas such as price risk, interest rate risk and credit risk.
(a)

Market risk
Foreign currency risk
The group does not have any foreign currency exposure and related risk.
Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
The company does not have any interest-bearing borrowings and is therefore not exposed to cash flow and interest rate risk. The
group’s income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest rates.
Price risk
The group’s main activity is the exploration of various minerals. The group is not exposed to commodity price risk currently.
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32. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Financial risk management (continued)
(b)

Credit risk
Credit risk consists of cash and cash equivalents, deposits with banks, as well as with trade and other receivables. The group only
deposits cash with major banks with high quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one counterparty.
Loans receivable consist mainly of group loans. Management evaluates the credit risk relating to these companies on an ongoing
basis by talking into account its financial position, past experience and other factors.
The amount that best represents the group’s maximum exposure to credit risk at 29 February 2016 is made up as follows:

GROUP
Figures in Rands

2016

COMPANY
2015

2016

2015

Cash and cash equivalents

400 916

33 198

–

–

Trade and other receivables

212 915

251 681

–

–

Restricted cash – environmental guarantees

403 295

687 033

–

–

–

–

–

15 663 703

1 017 126

971 912

–

15 663 703

Loans to subsidiary

No collateral is held for any of the above assets.
None of the above assets are past due or impaired.
(c)

Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, and the availability of funding
from an adequate amount of committed credit facilities. The group’s risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future
commitments and this is managed through an ongoing review of future commitments and credit-based facilities.
Cash flow forecasts are prepared and monitored.
The table below analyses the company’s and the group’s financial liabilities that will be settled on a net basis into relevant maturity
groupings based on the remaining period at the statement of financial position date to the contractual maturity date. Balances due
within 12 months equal their carrying balances, as the impact of discounting is not significant.

Less than
1 year

Between
2 and 5
years

Total

3 086 438

–

3 086 438

–

1 097 638

1 097 638

967 089

6 545 980

7 513 069

1 444 251

–

1 444 251

GROUP
At 29 February 2016
Trade and other payables
At 28 February 2015
Loan from director
Unsecured loans
Trade and other payables
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Less than
1 year

Between
2 and 5
years

Total

1 000 000

–

1 000 000

–

6 295 056

6 295 056

176 169

–

176 169

32. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Financial risk management (continued)
(c)

Liquidity risk (continued)
COMPANY
At 29 February 2016
Trade and other payables
At 28 February 2015
Unsecured loans
Trade and other payables
Capital risk management
The group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to
provide returns for shareholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.
There are no externally imposed capital requirements.
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new
capital or sell assets to reduce debt.
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Analysis of shareholders
as at 29 February 2016

The following are shareholders beneficially holding, directly or indirectly, in excess of 3% of the share capital

Number
of shares

% of
shareholding

107 000 000

24,59

43 017 000

9,89

Java Capital Trustees and Sponsors Proprietary Limited

41 648 396

9,57

Familia Asset Managers Proprietary Limited

28 450 742

6,54

James Allan

23 582 877

5,42

Amods Attorneys
Ismail Agmed Olgar

Legacy Platinum Corporation/Forbes & Manhattan

23 200 000

5,33

Feroza Sulimann Bhana

20 000 000

4,60

Abbas Yunus Ally

20 000 000

4,60

David Levithan (via Yawara Capital Proprietary Limited

19 053 616

4,38

Number of

% of

Number of

% of

shareholders

shareholding

shares held

shareholding

140

9,11

205 203 005

47,16

66

4,29

8 311 519

1,91

1 326

86,27

136 175 170

31,30

1 532

99,67

349 689 694

80,37

Directors

3

0,20

35 722 452

8,21

Escrow shares

1

0,07

41 648 396

9,57

Associates of directors

1

0,07

8 065 975

1,85

5

0,33

85 436 823

19,63

1 537

100,00

435 126 517

100,00

1 162

75,60

289 205

0,07

1 001 – 5 000 shares

173

11,26

444 657

0,10

5 001 – 10 000 shares

51

3,32

413 979

0,10

Description of shareholders
Public shareholding
Corporate
Nominees/trusts/trustees
Individuals

Non-public shareholding

Shareholder spread
1 – 1 000 shares

10 001 – 50 000 shares

58

3,77

1 436 481

0,33

50 001 – 100 000 shares

19

1,24

1 425 791

0,33

Over 100 000 shares

74

4,81

431 116 404

99,08

1 537

100,00

435 126 517

100,00
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Direct
holding

Indirect
holding

Total
holding

% of
shareholding

–

19 053 616

19 053 616

4,38

15 516 902

8 065 975

23 582 877

3,78

239 857

–

239 857

0,06

15 756 759

19 965 693

35 722 452

8,21

11 669 057

912 076

12 581 133

5,52

8 065 975

912 077

8 978 052

3,94
7,62

Direct and indirect shareholding by directors: 2016
David Levithan
James Allan
Charles Mostert

Direct and indirect shareholding by directors: 2015
James Allan
Rene Hochreiter
David Levithan

–

17 370 184

17 370 184

Charles Mostert

239 857

–

239 857

0,11

Botha Schabort

–

20 444 461

20 444 461

8,97

19 974 889

39 638 798

59 613 687

26,16
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Notice of annual general meeting

MIDDLE EAST DIAMOND RESOURCES LIMITED
(previously Sable Metals and Minerals Limited)
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number: 2001/006539/06)
JSE share code: MED
ISIN: ZAE000211876
(“MEDR” or “the company” or “the group”)
Notice is hereby given that the annual general meeting of the company’s shareholders will be held at the offices of the company, Kingsley
Office Park, 85 Protea Road, Chislehurston, Sandton on Friday, 11 November 2016 at 10:00 (“the annual general meeting” or “the AGM”).

Purpose
The purpose of the meeting is to receive, consider and adopt the financial statements of the company and the group for the year ended
29 February 2016; to transact the business set out in this notice of annual general meeting (“AGM notice”) by considering and, if deemed fit,
passing, with or without modification, the ordinary resolutions hereunder; and to transact such other business as may be transacted at the
annual general meeting.

Record date, attendance and voting
2016
Record date in order to be eligible to receive the AGM notice

Friday, 23 September

AGM notice posted to shareholders

Friday, 30 September

Last date to trade in order to be eligible to vote at the annual general meeting

Friday, 28 October

Record date in order to be eligible to vote at the annual general meeting

Friday, 4 November

Last day to lodge forms of proxy for the annual general meeting (by 11:00)

Wednesday, 9 November

Annual general meeting (at 10:00)

Friday, 11 November

Results of the annual general meeting released on SENS and in the press

Friday, 11 November

1.

Shareholders entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting may appoint one or more proxies to attend, speak and vote
thereat in their stead. A proxy need not be a member of the company. A form of proxy, in which are set out the relevant instructions for
its completion, is enclosed for the use of a certificated shareholder or own-name registered dematerialised shareholder who wishes to
be represented at the annual general meeting. Completion of a form of proxy will not preclude such shareholder from attending and
voting (in preference to that shareholder’s proxy) at the annual general meeting.

2.

The instrument appointing a proxy and the authority (if any) under which it is signed must reach the company’s transfer secretaries at
the address given below by not later than 10:00 on Wednesday, 9 November 2016.

3.

Dematerialised shareholders, other than own-name registered dematerialised shareholders, who wish to attend the annual general
meeting in person will need to request their Central Securities Depository Participant (“CSDP”) or broker to provide them with the
necessary letter of representation in terms of the custody agreement entered into between such shareholders and the CSDP or broker.

4.

Dematerialised shareholders, other than own-name registered dematerialised shareholders, who are unable to attend the annual general
meeting and who wish to be represented thereat, must provide their CSDP or broker with their voting instructions in terms of the custody
agreement entered into between them and the CSDP or broker in the manner and time stipulated therein.

5.

Shareholders present in person, by proxy or by authorised representative shall, on a show of hands, have one vote each and, on a poll,
will have one vote in respect of each share held.
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6.

In terms of the Companies Act, any shareholder or proxy who intends to attend or participate at the annual general meeting must be
able to present reasonably satisfactory identification at the meeting for such shareholder or proxy to attend and participate at the annual
general meeting. A green bar-coded identification document issued by the South African Department of Home Affairs, a driver’s licence,
or a valid passport, will be accepted at the annual general meeting as sufficient identification.

Agenda
1.

Presentation and consideration of the financial statements of MEDR, including the reports of the directors, the audit and risk committee
and the social and ethics committee for the year ended 29 February 2016. The complete financial statements for the year ended
29 February 2016, together with both reports are available for inspection at the registered office of the company, Kingsley Office Park,
85 Protea Road, Chislehurston, Sandton and on the website www.mediamonds.co.za; and

2.

To consider and, if deemed fit, approve, with or without modification, the following ordinary and special resolutions:

Note:
In order for ordinary resolutions numbers 1 to 11 and ordinary resolution number 13 to be adopted, the support of more than 50% of the voting
rights exercisable by shareholders, present in person or by proxy must be exercised in favour thereof.
In order for ordinary resolution number 12 to be adopted, the support of at least 75% of the voting rights exercisable by shareholders, present
in person or by proxy must be exercised in favour thereof.
In order for any of the special resolution numbers 1 and 2 to be adopted, the support of more than 75% of the voting rights exercisable by
shareholders, present in person or by proxy must be exercised in favour thereof.

ORDINARY BUSINESS
1. Ordinary resolution number 1: Confirmation of Abdulla Khalfan Humaid Nasser’s appointment
To ratify the appointment of Abdulla Khalfan Humaid Nasser who was appointed as a director of the company with effect from
29 February 2016.
An abbreviated curriculum vitae in respect of Abdulla Khalfan Humaid Nasser may be viewed on page 16 of this integrated annual report.

2. Ordinary resolution number 2: Confirmation of Said Tinawi’s appointment
To ratify the appointment of Said Tinawi who was appointed as a director of the company with effect from 29 February 2016.
An abbreviated curriculum vitae in respect of Said Tinawi may be viewed on page 17 of this integrated annual report.

3. Ordinary resolution number 3: Confirmation of Richard Mhlontlo’s appointment
To ratify the appointment of Richard Mhlontlo who was appointed as a director of the company with effect from 29 February 2016.
An abbreviated curriculum vitae in respect of Richard Mhlontlo may be viewed on page 17 of this integrated annual report.

4. Ordinary resolution number 4: Confirmation of Mohammed Bassam Al Mojarkesh’s appointment
To ratify the appointment of Mohammed Bassam Al Mojarkesh who was appointed as a director of the company with effect from
29 February 2016.
An abbreviated curriculum vitae in respect of Mohammed Bassam Al Mojarkesh may be viewed on page 17 of this integrated annual
report.

5. Ordinary resolution number 5: Confirmation of Afzal Jagot’s appointment
To ratify the appointment of Afzal Jagot who was appointed as a director of the company with effect from 29 February 2016.
An abbreviated curriculum vitae in respect of Afzal Jagot may be viewed on page 17 of this integrated annual report.
Reason for ordinary resolution numbers 1 to 5
The reason for ordinary resolution numbers 1 and 5 is that article 26.2 of the memorandum of incorporation of the company and, to the extent
applicable, the Companies Act, requires that director appointments must be approved by shareholders at the next annual general meeting.
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ORDINARY BUSINESS (continued)
6. Ordinary resolution number 6: Re-election of Abdulla Khalfan Humaid Nasser
“Resolved that Abdulla Khalfan Humaid Nasser, who retires by rotation in terms of the memorandum of incorporation of the company
and who, being eligible, offers himself for re-election, be and is hereby re-elected as director of the company.”
An abbreviated curriculum vitae in respect of Abdulla Khalfan Humaid Nasser may be viewed on page 16 of this integrated annual report.

7. Ordinary resolution number 7: Re-election of Said Tinawi
“Resolved that Said Tinawi, who retires by rotation in terms of the memorandum of incorporation of the company and who, being eligible,
offers himself for re-election, be and is hereby re-elected as director of the company.”
An abbreviated curriculum vitae in respect of Said Tinawi may be viewed on page 17 of this integrated annual report.
Reason for ordinary resolution numbers 6 and 7
The reason for ordinary resolution numbers 6 and 7 is that article 26.8 of the memorandum of incorporation of the company requires that
one-third of the non-executive directors shall retire at the annual general meeting and, if eligible, may offer themselves for re-election as
directors.

8. Ordinary resolution number 8: Appointment of the auditors
“Resolved that PKF (VGA) Chartered Accountants, together with Herman Nieuwoudt as the designated auditor, be and are hereby
appointed as the independent auditors of the company from the conclusion of this annual general meeting until the conclusion of the
next annual general meeting of the company.”
Reason for ordinary resolution number 8
In accordance with section 94(7) of the Companies Act, the audit and risk committee has nominated for appointment as auditors of the
company under section 90 of the Companies Act, PKF (VGA) Chartered Accountants.
The reason for ordinary resolution number 8 is that the company, being a public listed company, must have its financial results audited
and in accordance with section 90 of the Companies Act its auditor must be appointed or reappointed each year at the annual general
meeting of the company as required by the Companies Act.

9. Ordinary resolution number 9: Appointment of Richard Mhlontlo as a member to the audit and risk committee
“Resolved that, in terms of section 94(2) of the Companies Act, Richard Mhlontlo, an independent non-executive director, be and is
hereby elected a member of the company’s audit and risk committee, with effect from the conclusion of this annual general meeting.”
An abbreviated curriculum vitae in respect of Richard Mhlontlo may be viewed on page 17 of this integrated annual report.

10. Ordinary resolution number 10: Appointment of Mohammed Bassam Al Mojarkesh as a member to the
audit and risk committee
“Resolved that, in terms of section 94(2) of the Companies Act, Mohammed Bassam Al Mojarkesh, an independent non-executive director,
be and is hereby elected a member of the company’s audit and risk committee and whose dual role as chairman of the board and as
member of the audit and risk committee is hereby specifically approved, with effect from the conclusion of this annual general meeting.”
An abbreviated curriculum vitae in respect of Mohammed Bassam Al Mojarkesh may be viewed on page 17 of this integrated annual report.
Reason for ordinary resolution numbers 9 and 10
The reason for ordinary resolution numbers 9 and 10 is that the company, being a public listed company, must appoint an audit
committee as prescribed by section 94(2) of the Companies Act, which requires that the members of such audit committee be appointed,
or reappointed, as the case may be, at each annual general meeting of the company. An independent non-executive director is being
sought to chair the audit and risk committee.
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ORDINARY BUSINESS (continued)
11. Ordinary resolution number 11: Placing unissued shares under directors’ control
“Resolved that the authorised and unissued ordinary shares in the company, be and are hereby placed under the control of the directors
of the company until the next annual general meeting and that the directors of the company be and are hereby authorised to allot and
issue all or part thereof at such time or times to such person or persons or bodies corporate and upon such terms and conditions as the
directors of the company may from time to time deem fit, subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, the memorandum of
incorporation of the company, and the provisions of the Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited (‘JSE’) (‘the JSE Listings
Requirements’).”
Reason for ordinary resolution number 11
The reason for ordinary resolution number 11 is to place the authorised but unissued share capital of the company under the control of
the directors of the company.

12. Ordinary resolution number 12: General authority to issue shares for cash
“Resolved that, subject to the restrictions set out below, the directors be and are hereby authorised, pursuant, inter alia, to the company’s
memorandum of incorporation and subject to the provisions of the Companies Act and the JSE Listings Requirements, until this authority
lapses which shall be at the next annual general meeting or 15 months from the date hereof, whichever is the earliest, to allot and issue
shares of the company for cash on the following basis:
(a)

the allotment and issue of shares must be made to persons qualifying as public shareholders and not to related parties, as defined
in the JSE Listings Requirements;

(b)

the shares, which are the subject of the issue for cash, must be of a class already in issue or, where this is not the case, must be
limited to such shares or rights that are convertible into a class already in issue;

(c)

the total aggregate number of shares, which may be issued for cash in terms of this authority, may not exceed 65 268 977 shares,
being 15% of the company’s issued shares, as at the date of notice of this annual general meeting. Accordingly, any shares issued
under this authority prior to this authority lapsing shall be deducted from the 65 268 977 shares the company is authorised to issue,
in terms of this authority for the purpose of determining the remaining number of shares that may be issued in terms of this authority;

(d)

In the event of a sub-division or consolidation of shares prior to this authority lapsing, the existing authority shall be adjusted
accordingly to represent the same allocation ratio;

(e)

the maximum discount at which the shares may be issued is 10% (ten percent) of the weighted average traded price of such shares
measured over the 30 business days prior to the date that the price of the issue is agreed between the company and the party
subscribing for the shares; and

(f)

after the company has issued shares for cash which represent, on a cumulative basis, within the period that this authority is valid,
5% (five percent) or more of the number of shares in issue prior to that issue, the company shall publish an announcement
containing full details of the issue, including the number of shares issued, the average discount to the weighted average trade price
of the shares over the 30 days prior to the date that the issue is agreed in writing and an explanation, including supporting
documentation (if any) of the intended use of the funds.”

Reason for ordinary resolution number 12
For public listed entities wishing to issue shares, it is necessary for the board of directors not only to obtain the prior authority of the
shareholders in accordance with the company’s memorandum of incorporation, but it is also necessary to obtain the prior authority of
shareholders in accordance with the JSE Listings Requirements. The reason for this resolution is accordingly to obtain a general authority
from shareholders to issue shares in compliance with the JSE Listings Requirements.
Note: In order for this ordinary resolution number 12 to be adopted, the support of at least 75% of the voting rights exercisable by
shareholders, present in person or by proxy must be exercised in favour thereof.

13. Ordinary resolution number 13: Authority to implement
“Resolved that any one director of the company and/or the company secretary of the company be and is hereby authorised to do all
such things and sign all such documents as deemed necessary for or incidental to the implementation of the ordinary and special
resolutions, as set out in this notice convening the annual general meeting, at which these resolutions will be considered, and which are
passed by the shareholders, in accordance with and subject to the terms thereof.”
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ORDINARY BUSINESS (continued)
13. Ordinary Resolution Number 13: Authority to implement (continued)
Reason for ordinary resolution number 13
The reason for ordinary resolution number 13 is to ensure that the resolutions voted favourably upon are duly implemented through the
delegation of powers provided for in terms of article 26.11 of the company’s memorandum of incorporation.

SPECIAL BUSINESS
14. Special resolution number 1: Remuneration of non-executive directors
“Resolved that the remuneration payable to the non-executive directors be approved on the following basis with effect from this annual
general meeting until the next annual general meeting held in 2017:
Category

Recommended remuneration

Board member

R45 000 annual retainer

Board chairman

R15 000 per meeting attended

Board member

R10 000 per meeting attended

Audit and risk committee
Chairman

R8 000 per meeting attended

Member

R6 000 per meeting attended

Remuneration and nominations committee
Chairman

R4 500 per meeting attended

Member

R3 500 per meeting attended

Social and ethics committee
Member

R500 per meeting attended

Reasons for and effect of special resolution number 1
The reason for the proposed special resolution is to comply with section 66(9) of the Companies Act, which requires the approval of
directors’ fees prior to the payment of such fees.
The effect of special resolution number 1 is that the company will be able to pay its non-executive directors for the services they render
to the company as directors without requiring further shareholder approval until the next annual general meeting.

15. Special resolution number 2: Financial assistance to related and inter-related companies
“Resolved that to the extent required by the Companies Act, the board of directors of the company may, subject to compliance with the
requirements of the company’s memorandum of incorporation, the Companies Act and the Listings Requirements, authorise the
company to provide direct or indirect financial assistance, as contemplated in section 45 of the Companies Act by way of loans,
guarantees, the provision of security or otherwise, to any of its present or future subsidiaries and/or any other company or corporation
that is or becomes related or inter-related (as defined in the Companies Act) to the company for any purpose or in connection with any
matter, such authority to endure for a period of not more than two years, and further provided that inasmuch as the company’s provision
of financial assistance to its subsidiaries will at any and all times be in excess of one-tenth of 1% of the company’s net worth, the
company hereby provides notice to its shareholders of that fact.”
Notice in terms of section 45(5) of the Companies Act in respect of special resolution number 2
Notice is hereby given to shareholders of the company in terms of section 45(5) of the Companies Act of a resolution adopted by the
board authorising the company to provide such direct or indirect financial assistance as specified in the special resolution above:
(a)

by the time that this notice of annual general meeting is delivered to shareholders of the company, the board will have adopted a
resolution (“section 45 board resolution”) authorising the company to provide, at any time and from time to time during the period
of two years, commencing on the date on which the special resolution is adopted, any direct or indirect financial assistance as
contemplated in section 45 of the Companies Act to any one or more related or inter-related companies or corporations of the
company and/or to any one or more members of any such related or inter-related company or corporation and/or to any one or
more persons related to any such company or corporation;

MEDR Integrated annual report 2016

89

Shareholder
information

Notice of annual general meeting (continued)

SPECIAL BUSINESS (continued)
15. Special resolution number 2: Financial assistance to related and inter-related companies (continued)
Notice in terms of section 45(5) of the Companies Act in respect of special resolution number 2 (continued)
(b)

the section 45 board resolution will be effective only if and to the extent that the special resolution under the heading “special
resolution number 2” is adopted by the shareholders of the company, and the provision of any such direct or indirect financial
assistance by the company, pursuant to such resolution, will always be subject to the board being satisfied that (i) immediately after
providing such financial assistance, the company will satisfy the solvency and liquidity test as referred to in section 45(3)(b)(i) of the
Companies Act, and that (ii) the terms under which such financial assistance is to be given are fair and reasonable to the company
as referred to in section 45(3)(b)(ii) of the Companies Act; and

(c)

in-as-much as the section 45 board resolution contemplates that such financial assistance will in the aggregate exceed one-tenth
of one percent of the company’s net worth at the date of adoption of such resolution, the company hereby provides notice of the
section 45 board resolution to shareholders of the company.

Reason for and effect of special resolution number 2
The reason for, and the effect of special resolution number 2 is to provide a general authority to the board of directors of the group for
the group to grant direct or indirect financial assistance to any company forming part of the group, including in the form of loans or the
guaranteeing of their debts.

OTHER BUSINESS
To transact such other business as may be transacted at an annual general meeting or raised by shareholders with or without advance notice
to the company.

Quorum
A quorum for the purposes of considering the resolutions above shall consist of three shareholders of the company personally present (and
if the shareholder is a body corporate, it must be represented) and entitled to vote at the annual general meeting. In addition, a quorum shall
comprise 25% of all voting rights entitled to be exercised by shareholders in respect of the resolutions above.

Electronic participation
Shareholders or their proxies may participate in the annual general meeting by way of telephone conference call. Shareholders or their proxies
who wish to participate in the annual general meeting via the teleconference facility will be required to advise the company thereof by no later
than 10:00 on Wednesday, 9 November 2016 by submitting, by email to the financial director at james@mediamonds.co.za or by fax to be
faxed to 011 326 5625, for the attention of the chief executive officer relevant contact details including email address, cellular number and
landline, as well as full details of the shareholder’s title to the shares issued by the company and proof of identity, in the form of copies of
identity documents and share certificates (in the case of certificated shareholders), and (in the case of dematerialised shareholders) written
confirmation from the shareholder’s CSDP confirming the shareholder’s title to the dematerialised shares. Upon receipt of the required
information, the shareholder concerned will be provided with a secure code and instructions to access the electronic communication during
the annual general meeting.
Shareholders who wish to participate in the annual general meeting by way of telephone conference call must note that they will not be able
to vote during the annual general meeting. Such shareholders, should they wish to have their vote counted at the annual general meeting,
must, to the extent applicable: (i) complete the form of proxy; or (ii) contact their CSDP or broker, in both instances, as set out above.
By order of the board

Juba Statutory Services Proprietary Limited
Sirkien van Schalkwyk
Company secretary
20 September 2016
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Form of proxy

Middle East Diamond Resources Limited
(previously Sable Metals and Minerals Limited)
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number: 2001/006539/06)
JSE share code: MED
ISIN: ZAE000211876
(“MEDR” or “the company” or “the group”)
For use by shareholders of the company holding certificated shares and/or dematerialised shareholders who have elected “own name” registration, nominee companies of Central Securities
Depository Participants (“CSDP”) and brokers’ nominee companies, registered as such at the close of business on Friday, 28 October 2016 (the “voting record date”), at the annual general
meeting to be held at the offices of the company, Kingsley Office Park, 85 Protea Road, Chislehurston, Sandton on Friday, 11 November 2016 at 10:00 (the “annual general meeting”) or any
postponement or adjournment thereof.
If you are a dematerialised shareholder, other than with “own name” registration, do not use this form. Dematerialised shareholders, other than with “own name” registration, should provide
instructions to their appointed CSDP or broker in the form as stipulated in the agreement entered into between the shareholder and the CSDP or broker.
I/We (please print name in full)
of (address)
being a shareholder/s of MEDR, holding

shares in the company hereby appoint:

1.

or, failing him/her,

2.

or, failing him/her,

3.

or failing him/her,

4. the chairman of the annual general meeting,
as my/our proxy to vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the annual general meeting and at any adjournment thereof and to speak and act for me/us and, on a poll, vote on my/our behalf.
My/our proxy shall vote as follows:
Number of shares
In favour of

Against

Abstain

To consider the presentation of the annual financial statements for the year ended 29 February 2016
Ordinary resolution number 1: Appointment confirmation of Abdulla Khalfan Humaid Nasser as a director
Ordinary resolution number 2: Appointment confirmation of Said Tinawi as a director
Ordinary resolution number 3: Appointment confirmation of Richard Mhlontlo as a director
Ordinary resolution number 4: Appointment confirmation of Mohammed Bassam Al Mojarkesh as a director
Ordinary resolution number 5: Appointment confirmation of Afzal Jagot as a director
Ordinary resolution number 6: To re-elect Abdulla Khalfan Humaid Nasser as director
Ordinary resolution number 7: To re-elect Said Tinawi as director
Ordinary resolution number 8: Appointment of auditors
Ordinary resolution number 9: Appointment of Richard Mhlontlo to the audit and risk committee
Ordinary resolution number 10: Appointment of Mohammed Bassam Al Mojarkesh to the audit and risk committee
Ordinary resolution number 11: Placing of unissued shares under the directors’ control
Ordinary resolution number 12: General authority to issue shares for cash
Ordinary resolution number 13: Authority to implement
Special resolution number 1: Approval of non-executive directors’ fees
Special Resolution number 2: Financial assistance to related and inter-related companies
(indicate instruction to proxy by way of a cross in the space provided above)
Unless otherwise instructed, my/our proxy may vote as he/she thinks fit.
Signed this

day of

2016

Signature
Assisted by me (where applicable)
(State capacity and full name)
Forms of proxy must be deposited at the company’s transfer secretaries, Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Ltd, Ground Floor, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, or posted to PO Box 61051,
Marshalltown, 2107 so as to arrive by no later than 10:00 on Wednesday, 9 November 2016.
Please read the notes on the reverse side hereof.
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Notes to the proxy form

1. This form of proxy should only be used by shareholders holding certificated shares and/or dematerialised shareholders who have elected
“own name” registration, nominee companies of CSDPs and brokers’ nominee companies.
2. A shareholder may insert the name of a proxy or the names of two alternative proxies of the shareholder’s choice in the space/s provided,
with or without deleting “the chairman of the meeting”, but any such deletion must be initialled by the shareholder. The person whose
name stands first on the form of proxy and who is present at the meeting will be entitled to act as proxy to those whose names follow.
3. A shareholder’s instructions to the proxy must be indicated by means of a tick or a cross or by the insertion of the relevant number of
votes exercisable by that shareholder in the appropriate box provided. However, if you wish to cast your votes in respect of a lesser
number of shares than you own in the company, insert the number of shares in respect of which you desire to vote. If: (i) a shareholder
fails to comply with the above; or (ii) gives contrary instructions in relation to any matter; or any additional resolution(s) which are properly
put before the meeting; or (iii) the resolution listed in the proxy form is modified or amended, the shareholder will be deemed to authorise
the chairman of the annual general meeting, if the chairman is the authorised proxy, to vote in favour of the resolutions at the annual
general meeting, or any other proxy to vote or to abstain from voting at the annual general meeting as he/she deems fit, in respect of all
the shareholder’s votes exercisable thereat. If, however, the shareholder has provided further written instructions which accompany this
form of proxy and which indicate how the proxy should vote or abstain from voting in any of the circumstances referred to in (i) to (iii)
above, then the proxy shall comply with those instructions.
4. Dematerialised shareholders who wish to attend the meeting or to vote by way of proxy, must contact their CSDP or broker who will
furnish them with the necessary letter of representation to attend the meeting or to be represented thereat by proxy. This must be done
in terms of the custody agreement between the member and his/her CSDP or broker.
5. Forms of proxy must be lodged at the company’s transfer secretaries, Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Ltd, 70 Marshall Street,
Johannesburg, 2001 (PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107) so as to be received by not later than 10:00 on Wednesday, 9 November 2016.
6. The completion and lodging of this form of proxy shall not preclude the relevant shareholder from attending the meeting and speaking
and voting in person thereat to the exclusion of any proxy appointed in terms hereof.
7. Documentary evidence establishing the authority of the person signing this form of proxy in a representative or other legal capacity must
be attached to this form of proxy unless previously recorded by the company’s transfer secretaries or waived by the chairman of
the meeting.
8. Any alteration or correction made to this form of proxy must be initialled by the signatory/ies.
9. The chairman of the annual general meeting may reject or accept any form of proxy which is completed and/or received, other than in
compliance with these notes provided that, in respect of acceptances, he is satisfied as to the manner in which the shareholder(s)
concerned wish(es) to vote.
10. Where there are joint holders of shares:
(i)

any one holder may sign the form of proxy; and

(ii)

the vote of the senior (for that purpose seniority will be determined by the order in which the names of shareholders appear in the
register of members) who tenders a vote (whether in person or by proxy) will be accepted to the exclusion of the vote(s) of the other
joint holder(s) of shares.

11. A minor must be assisted by his/her parent or guardian unless the relevant documents establishing his/her legal capacity are produced
or have been registered by the company’s transfer secretaries.
12. On a show of hands, every shareholder present in person or represented by proxy shall have only one vote, irrespective of the number
of shares he/she holds or represents.
13. On a poll, every shareholder present in person or represented by proxy shall have one vote for every share held by such shareholder.
14. This form of proxy may be used at any adjournment or postponement of the annual general meeting, including any postponement due
to a lack of quorum, unless withdrawn by the shareholder.
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Corporate information

Registered address

Date and place of incorporation of the company

Kingsley Office Park

Incorporated on 27 June 2001 in the Republic of South Africa

85 Protea Road
Chislehurston

Company secretary

Sandton 2196

Juba Statutory Services Proprietary Limited
(represented by Sirkien van Schalkwyk)

(PO Box 411130, Craighall, 2024)

(Registration number 2010/006409/07)
No 1 Carlsberg

Directors

430 Nieuwenhuyzen Street

Executive directors

Elarduspark Ext 2, 0181

James Allan (Chief executive officer)
Afzal Jagot (Financial director)

(PO Box 4896, Rietvalleirand, 0174)

Non-executive directors

Transfer secretaries

Abdulla Khalfan Humaid Nasser (Non-executive chairman)

Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited

Richard Mhlontlo*

(Registration number 2004/003647/07)

Said Tinawi

Ground Floor

Mohammed Bassam Al Mojarkesh*

70 Marshall Street

* Independent

Johannesburg 2001

Sponsor and corporate advisor

(PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107)

Exchange Sponsors (2008) Proprietary Limited
(Registration number 2008/019553/07)

Competent person’s report

44A Boundary Road

Minxcon Consulting Proprietary Limited

Inanda, 2196

(Registration number 2004/029587/07)
Coldstream Office Park, Suite 5

(PO Box 411216, Craighall, 2024)

Coldstream Street, Little Falls

Attorneys

(Postnet suite 47, Private Bag X5, Strubensvalley, 1735)

David Levithan Attorneys
5th Floor, South Wing
Hyde Park Corner
Jan Smuts Avenue
Hyde Park
(PO Box 412629, Craighall, 2024)
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Definitions and abbreviations

AGM

Annual General Meeting

BC

Bushveld Complex

Blain Capital

Blain Capital Solutions Proprietary Limited (Registration no. 2015/290882/07)

BLA

Broken Land Adventures Proprietary Limited (Registration no. 2015/201699/07)

Companies Act

Companies Act, No 71 of 2008, as amended

CPR

Competent person’s report

CPI

Consumer Price Index

DMR

Department of Mineral Resources

IFRS

International Financial Reporting Standards

JSE

JSE Limited, South Africa’s Securities Exchange

King III

The King Report on Governance for South Africa 2009

Lemur

Lemur Resources Limited

LTIFR

Lost time injury frequency rate

MEDR

Middle East Diamond Resources Limited (previously Sable Metals and Minerals Limited)
(Registration no. 2001/006539/06)

Minxcon

Minxcon Consulting Proprietary Limited

MPRDA

Mineral and Petroleum Resources Development Act, 28 of 2002

PEM

Prospectivity enhancement multiplier

PGMs

Platinum group metals

Project companies

Great 1 Line Investment Proprietary Limited, Gemsbok Magnetite Proprietary Limited and Caber Trade and
Investment 1 Proprietary Limited

(Pty) Ltd

Proprietary Limited

RMDEC

Regional Mining and Development Environmental Committee

SAICA

South African institute of chartered accountants

SAMREC

South African Code for reporting of exploration results, mineral resources and mineral reserves

Setpoint Laboratories

Setpoint Industrial Technologies Proprietary Limited

SPH

Sable Platinum Holdings Proprietary Limited (Registration no. 2009/014326/07)

SPM

Sable Platinum Mining Limited (Registration no. 2006/030845/06)

TiO2

Titanium

UG2

Upper ground number 2

USD

United States Dollar

USD/t

United State Dollar per tonne

V2O5

Vanadium pentoxide

ZAR

South African Rand

